

A Service of

ZBU

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Irmen, Andreas; Kuehnel, Johanna

Working Paper Productive government expenditure and economic growth

CESifo Working Paper, No. 2314

Provided in Cooperation with: Ifo Institute – Leibniz Institute for Economic Research at the University of Munich

Suggested Citation: Irmen, Andreas; Kuehnel, Johanna (2008) : Productive government expenditure and economic growth, CESifo Working Paper, No. 2314, Center for Economic Studies and ifo Institute (CESifo), Munich

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/26359

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Productive Government Expenditure and Economic Growth

ANDREAS IRMEN JOHANNA KUEHNEL

CESIFO WORKING PAPER NO. 2314 CATEGORY 5: FISCAL POLICY, MACROECONOMICS AND GROWTH MAY 2008

An electronic version of the paper may be downloaded • from the SSRN website: www.SSRN.com • from the RePEc website: www.RePEc.org • from the CESifo website: www.CESifo-group.org/wp

Productive Government Expenditure and Economic Growth

Abstract

We provide a comprehensive survey of the recent literature on the link between productive government expenditure and economic growth. Starting with the seminal paper of Robert Barro (1990) we show that an understanding of the core results of the ensuing contributions can be gained from the study of their respective Euler equations. We argue that the existing literature incorporates many relevant aspects, however, policy recommendations tend to hinge on several knife-edge assumptions. Therefore, future research ought to focus more on ideabased endogenous growth models to check the robustness of policy recommendations. Moreover, the inclusion of hitherto unexplored types of government expenditure, e. g., on the "rule of law", would be desirable.

JEL Code: E62, H10, H21, H41, H54, O41.

Keywords: economic growth, government expenditure, public goods, fiscal policy.

Andreas Irmen Department of Economics University of Heidelberg Grabengasse 14 69117 Heidelberg Germany airmen@uni-hd.de Johanna Kuehnel Department of Economics University of Heidelberg Grabengasse 14 69117 Heidelberg Germany johanna.kuehnel@awi.uni-heidelberg.de

This Version: May 13, 2008. We would like to thank seminar participants at Heidelberg, in particular Davide Cantoni, for helpful suggestions.

Contents

1	Introduction					
2 The Basic Analytical Framework						
3	3 Productive Government Activity as a Flow					
	3.1	The Pure Public Good Case	5			
	3.2	Productive Government Expenditure and Adjustment Costs	7			
	3.3 Public Goods Subject to Congestion					
		3.3.1 Relative Congestion Without Excludability	11			
		3.3.2 Relative Congestion With Excludability	12			
	3.4	Public Consumption Services	15			
	3.5 Endogenous Labor Supply					
	3.6 Small Open Economy					
		3.6.1 Exogenous Labor Supply	22			
		3.6.2 Endogenous Labor Supply	24			
4	1 Productive Government Activity as a Stock					
	4.1 Public Goods Subject to Congestion					
	4.2 Maintenance of Public Capital					
	4.3	Stock-Flow Model of Public Goods	32			
5	5 Variations on a Theme					
	5.1	Stochastic Environments	33			
	5.2	Increasing Returns	35			
	5.3	Non-Scale Growth	35			
6	Concluding Remarks 3					
7	Appendix: The Pareto-Efficient Allocation of Section 4.1 4					

1 Introduction

It is widely recognized that public expenditure on infrastructure such as roads, ports, or communication systems, public research spending and the provision of basic education and medical services raises the economic potential of an economy. At least since the influential study of Aschauer (1989) and the following discussion (see, de Haan and Romp (2007) for a recent survey of this empirical literature) it is argued that a rise in productive government activity increases output. Easterly and Rebelo (1993) and, more recently, Canning and Pedroni (2004) find evidence for long-run growth effects associated with public investment in infrastructure. In addition, many case studies highlight the growth-enhancing potential associated with such investments (see, e. g., OECD (2007)).

The purpose of this paper is to provide a critical survey on the recent theoretical literature that aims at the identification of possible links between productive government activity and long-run economic growth and the assessment of the resulting allocation in terms of welfare. To accomplish this, we have to focus on endogenous growth models where variations in fiscal policy parameters may have an effect on long-run growth.¹ To the best of our knowledge, Barro (1990) is the seminal paper in this field. It introduces government expenditure as a public good into the production function of individual firms. In this way the rate of return to private capital increases which stimulates private investment and growth.

We show that the ensuing literature is able to extend Barro's analysis to incorporate many relevant aspects that interact with the effect of public services on economic growth. They include adjustment costs, congestion effects, utility-enhancing public consumption services, endogenous labor supply both in closed and small open economies. We establish that the mechanics and the core results for each aspect can be gained from the study of the respective Euler equation. We use this approach to characterize the determinants of the equilibrium growth rate and to analyze the role of fiscal policy measures on this growth rate. Moreover, we conduct a welfare analysis and derive the circumstances under which the welfare-maximizing allocation can be implemented.²

While Barro (1990) treated productive government expenditure as a flow variable, the paper by Futagami, Morita, and Shibata (1993) introduces the provision of productive

¹For the study of various aspects of public expenditure in the neoclassical growth model, the interested reader is referred to Arrow and Kurz (1970), Aschauer (1988), Barro (1989), Baxter and King (1993), Fisher and Turnovsky (1995), or Fisher and Turnovsky (1998).

²Throughout we stick to a continuous-time framework with infinitely-lived dynasties. Moreover, we do not explicitly consider education and human capital formation as a government activity. This is at the heart of, e. g., Glomm and Ravikumar (1992) or, more recently, Gómez (2007). See Zagler and Dürnecker (2003) for a survey of this literature.

government services as a stock. At first sight, this approach is more appealing since services like public infrastructure are more realistically described as stocks. However, the advantage in terms of realism has a price in terms of analytical complexity. For instance, this approach usually entails complex transitional dynamics and the steady-state growth rate is no longer determined by the Euler equation alone. Nevertheless, we argue that the analysis of the balanced growth path in the stock case confirms most results that are obtained in the flow case. An important difference occurs in the welfare analysis. The fact that current public investments become only productive tomorrow tends to reduce the welfare-maximizing share of government investment. We show that these findings are robust in a setting where a flow and a stock of public services are provided simultaneously.

However, the stock approach allows to address new questions that cannot be raised in a flow context. We make this point with an analysis that introduces an additional productive use of government expenditure, namely the maintenance of the public capital stock.

Finally, we turn to more fundamental variations of the analytical framework and ask for the robustness of the policy implications derived so far. For a stochastic setting we conclude that the policy implications are similar in spite of the fact that precautionary savings drive a wedge between the goals of growth and welfare maximization. In contrast, we argue that the knife-edge assumption of constant returns to scale with respect to private and public capital is responsible for many findings. For instance, under increasing returns multiple equilibria are endemic. This complicates the policy implications since the effect of fiscal policy measures is now conditional on expectations. Similarly, if productive government services are provided in a non-scale model, they cease to have an effect on the steady-state growth rate.

In light of these findings, we conclude that future research ought to focus on a deeper understanding of the policy implications that matter in reality. Certainly, a focus on the analysis of productive government services on economic growth in idea-based endogenous growth models is likely to enhance our understanding of the relationship between productive government expenditure and economic growth.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 sets out the basic analytical framework. In Section 3 we deal with the flow model and variants of this approach. Section 4 presents variants of the stock approach and compares them to the respective flow cases. Important extensions such as uncertainty, increasing returns and non-scale models are covered in Section 5. Section 6 concludes. The Appendix derives somewhat more complicated results that appear in Section 4.1.

2 The Basic Analytical Framework

Consider a closed economy in continuous time with many identical and competitive household-producers and a government. We denote per-household magnitudes by small letters, whereas capital letters represent aggregates. For instance, k(t) is the private capital input of an individual firm at t, and K(t) the economy's aggregate capital stock at t. Henceforth, we suppress the time argument whenever this does not cause confusion. We represent household-producers by the interval [0, N], N > 1, such that K = Nk. The "number" of household-producers remains constant over time. The economy has one good that can be consumed or invested. At all t, prices are expressed in units of the contemporaneous output of this good.

Each producer has access to the per-period production function

$$y = f(k,g) = Ak^{1-\alpha}g^{\alpha}, \qquad 0 < \alpha < 1,$$
 (2.1)

where y denotes firm output at t, A > 0 the time-invariant total factor productivity, and g the services derived by the firm from productive government activity at t. Private capital, k, has a positive but diminishing marginal product, and for simplicity does not depreciate.³ The function f has constant returns to scale with respect to both inputs. The possibility of steady-state growth arises since government activity acts as a countervailing force on the diminishing marginal product of private capital. To keep the marginal and the average productivity of private capital constant, in a steady state k and g have to grow at the same rate. To simplify the exposition, we work with the Cobb-Douglas specification.

Household-producers are infinitely-lived and derive utility in each period from private consumption. Their intertemporal utility is

$$u = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\rho t} \ln c \, dt, \qquad (2.2)$$

where $\rho > 0$ is the instantaneous rate of time preference. For expositional convenience we stick to a logarithmic per-period utility function. Most of the results presented in what follows readily extend to more general per-period utility functions with a constant elasticity of intertemporal substitution different from unity. Each household-producer receives net

³Labor is not mentioned as a separate input in the production function. This is a valid shortcut if we interpret the profit of each firm as the wage income that is earned by labor. More precisely, we may admit to each household-producer an exogenous per-period labor endowment $\bar{l} = 1$ that is inelastically supplied and consider a production function $y = Ak^{1-\alpha} (\bar{l}g)^{\alpha}$. Marginal cost pricing of labor and a real wage consistent with firms hiring \bar{l} determines the wage income equal to the profit income of firms that produce according to (2.1) without labor. This is an implication of Euler's law for linear-homogeneous functions.

output and determines how much to consume and how much to invest in private capital. Her flow budget constraint is

$$\dot{k} = (1 - \tau_y) f(k, g) - (1 + \tau_c)c - \tau, \qquad (2.3)$$

where τ_y and τ_c denote time-invariant tax rates on income/output and consumption, and τ is a lump-sum tax. When choosing c and k to maximize her utility the individual household-producer takes the level of public services as given and disregards the possible impact of her decision on the amount of public services provided. Then, her intertemporal optimization leads to the Euler condition

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y) \frac{\partial f}{\partial k} - \rho, \qquad (2.4)$$

i.e., the growth rate of consumption γ_c depends on the difference between the after-tax private marginal return on private capital and the rate of time preference. Throughout, we assume that the economy is sufficiently productive to sustain a strictly positive growth rate γ_c .

We denote G the aggregate amount of productive government activity at t from which individual firms derive the services g. Conceptually, G may be a flow or a stock variable. In the former case, government spending corresponds to the provision of public services that instantaneously affect the production technology of firms. In the latter case, today's government spending adds to the stock of public capital and affects the future production technology of firms. In any case, the government claims resources from householdproducers and transforms them one-to-one into a productive input to which firms get access. We assume that the government's budget is balanced in all periods. Let Y and C denote aggregate output and consumption at t and define total tax receipts at t by $T \equiv \tau_y Y + \tau_c C + \tau N$. Then, the budget constraint at t is

$$G = T$$
 or $\dot{G} = T$ (2.5)

for the flow and the stock case, respectively. Throughout, we focus on tax-financed expenditure and disregard funding via public debt.

3 Productive Government Activity as a Flow

Along a steady-state growth path with all variables growing at a constant rate, government expenditure must be proportionate to the size of the economy. To comply with this requirement, we stipulate for all t that

$$G = \theta_G Y, \tag{3.1}$$

where $\theta_G \in (0, 1)$ is a time-invariant constant measuring the fraction of current output that constitutes the current flow of productive government expenditure. If *G* includes public investment as well as government expenditure on public order and safety, on economic affairs, and on health and education, one finds for a sample of 19 OECD countries that the average θ_G over the time period 1995 to 2002 ranges between 10% and 20%.⁴

3.1 The Pure Public Good Case

Following Barro (1990), we first consider the case where government services are neither rival nor excludable. In this case, G is a pure public good and g = G such that the production function (2.1) becomes

$$y = AG^{\alpha}k^{1-\alpha}, \qquad 0 < \alpha < 1. \tag{3.2}$$

One may of think of G as government expenditure on basic education, the provision of medical services, or public research spending that increases the productivity of private inputs of all firms in the same manner.

Decentralized Equilibrium

Following the reasoning that led to the Euler equation (2.4) we find

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha)A\left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \rho.$$
(3.3)

The ratio of government spending per unit of private capital consistent with condition (3.1), the aggregation Y = Ny, and the production function (3.2) is $G/k = (AN\theta_G)^{1/(1-\alpha)}$. Upon substitution of the latter in (3.3) we obtain

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha) \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho.$$
(3.4)

At this stage, three remarks are in order. First, there are admissible values for τ_y , τ_c , τ , and θ_G that satisfy the budget constraint (2.5). Hence, given τ_c and τ , τ_y and θ_G that appear in (3.4) are not independent. Second, one can show that the economy immediately jumps onto its steady-state path along which all per-capita magnitudes grow at rate γ_c . Third,

⁴This finding is based on our own computations. We use data collected in UNdata (2008). Public investment corresponds to gross fixed capital formation of general government. Government expenditure on public order and safety, on economic affairs, and on health and education are subcategories of government final consumption expenditure. The sample includes Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Sweden, the United Kingdom and the United States of America. This selection of OECD countries maximizes the number of countries and the length of the time period for which a full set of comparable annual data on the components of G mentioned above are available. The sample average of θ_G across countries and time is approximately 15%.

the equilibrium growth rate depends on the "number" of household-producers, i. e., there is a scale effect. The latter occurs since individual firm productivity depends on aggregate spending $(G = \theta_G Y)$. Then, with more firms the externality is more pronounced.⁵

An interesting question is how the size of the government and the mode of funding government spending affects the economy's steady-state growth rate. A useful benchmark has $\tau_c = \tau = 0$ such that $\theta_G = \tau_y$. In this case, there is a growth-maximizing expenditure share equal to the output elasticity of government expenditure, $\theta_G^* = \alpha$.⁶ Intuitively, it balances two opposing effects. A rise in θ_G increases the private marginal product of private capital and reduces its after-tax value through a necessary increase in the distortionary income tax. At θ_G^* , government expenditure satisfies the so-called *natural condition of productive efficiency*, i. e., the marginal contribution of government expenditure to aggregate output is one.⁷ The steady-state growth rate may be further increased if a strictly positive consumption or lump-sum tax is levied. In the present context, a consumption tax acts like a lump-sum tax and both may be used to reduce the distortionary income tax. However, there is little reason why the steady-state growth rate should be arbitrarily large since faster economic growth has a cost in terms of foregone consumption. To assess the desirability of a given consumption growth rate we have to compare it to the allocation chosen by an omniscient social planner.

Pareto Efficiency

Contrary to the household-producer, the social planner knows that - given θ_G - the choice of k affects the level of government expenditure G through condition (3.1) and Y = Ny. Hence, he perceives the production function of the representative household-producer as

$$y = (AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}k.$$
(3.5)

The aggregate resource constraint is $N\dot{k} = Ny - G - Nc$. It results as the sum of all individual flow budget constraints (2.3) in conjunction with the government's budget

⁵ To eliminate the scale effect one may assume that the government service is not excludable but rival such that each producer receives a proportionate share of government services, i. e., g = G/N. In this case, the economy's steady-state growth rate is $\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha) (A\theta_G^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} - \rho$ and is independent of N. We shall get back to this case in Section 3.3 where we discuss different forms of congestion.

⁶For more general production functions f(k, g) with constant returns to scale in its inputs the growthmaximizing expenditure share remains equal to the respective output elasticity. This elasticity, however, need not be constant but may vary with G and other parameters. This generalization may prevent closedform solutions (see, e. g., Ott and Turnovsky (2006) for a discussion).

⁷To grasp the natural condition of productive efficiency consider a coal mine that uses its coal as an input. Then, what is the output-maximizing amount of the coal input? Intuitively, as long as an additional unit of coal raises output by more than one unit it will be used; if its marginal product is smaller, it will not. The quantity that maximizes output obtains when the marginal product of coal in its production is one. In the present context, we have from equation (3.2) with $Y = Ny = ANG^{\alpha}k^{1-\alpha}$: $dY/dG = \alpha (Y/G) = \alpha/\theta_G^{\alpha} = 1.$

constraint and (3.1). Expressed in per-household terms, this is

$$\dot{k} = (1 - \theta_G)y - c. \tag{3.6}$$

Throughout, we shall refer to an allocation as *constrained Pareto-efficient* if the planner takes the share of government expenditure θ_G as a given constant. The unconstrained or, in short, the *Pareto-efficient* allocation is the one obtained when the planner chooses θ_G optimally.

Here, the constrained Pareto-efficient allocation obtains from the maximization of u given by (2.2) with respect to c and k subject to (3.6). The corresponding Euler condition delivers the steady-state growth rate of all per-household magnitudes and is given by

$$\gamma_c^P = (1 - \theta_G) \left(A N^\alpha \theta_G^\alpha \right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho.$$
(3.7)

The first term on the right-hand side is the social marginal return on private capital. It does not coincide with the after-tax private marginal product that matters in (3.4). The comparison of the equilibrium to the planner's growth rate reveals that

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha) = 1 - \theta_G.$$
 (3.8)

These growth rates generically differ for two reasons. First, in equilibrium intertemporal prices are distorted due to the income tax. If the government sets $\tau_y = 0$ to eliminate this distortion and finances its expenditure via lump-sum taxes these growth rates may still differ as θ_G need not be equal to α . This reflects the second difference. The planner internalizes the externality associated with the provision of the public good, i.e., when choosing c and k he accounts for condition (3.1).

If we extend the planner's choice set and allow him to determine the size of the government in addition to c and k, one finds that he chooses $\theta_G^P = \alpha$. The Pareto-efficient growth rate is then given by γ_c^P of (3.8) with $\theta_G = \alpha$. As a consequence, the equilibrium and the Pareto-efficient allocation coincide if $\tau_y = 0$ and θ_G is chosen optimally.

3.2 Productive Government Expenditure and Adjustment Costs

Often the productive use of new private capital requires adjustment costs. Examples include costs for the installation of equipment or the schooling of employees. Adjustment costs increase the effective costs of private investment and may therefore discourage the accumulation of private capital. Here, we introduce this feature into the pure public good framework of the previous section.

Following Turnovsky (1996a) we assume that productive government expenditure reduces adjustment costs. For instance, due to a better road network the setup costs of a new factory may be lower. We capture this feature with an adjustment cost function per unit of investment given by $\phi(\theta_G) i/(2k)$, where *i* denotes investment per household-producer. A higher share of government activity reduces adjustment costs, though at a declining rate, i. e., $\phi' < 0 < \phi''$. As in Hayashi (1982), we assume that adjustment costs are proportional to the rate of investment per unit of installed capital and not to the absolute level of investment. Accordingly, the investment cost function is

$$\varphi(i,k,\phi(\theta_G)) \equiv \left(1 + \frac{\phi(\theta_G)}{2}\frac{i}{k}\right)i.$$
(3.9)

Decentralized Equilibrium

Individual household-producers choose a plan (c, k, i) for each t to maximize u of (2.2) subject to the constraints

$$i = \dot{k}$$
 and (3.10)

$$(1 - \tau_y) A G^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha} - \tau = (1 + \tau_c) c + \varphi(i, k, \phi(\theta_G)), \qquad (3.11)$$

where the latter equalizes disposable income to consumption and investment outlays.

The resulting optimality condition with respect to i reveals that the current-value shadow price of installed capital in units of current output is equal to the marginal investment costs, i. e.,

$$q = 1 + \phi\left(\theta_G\right)\frac{i}{k}.\tag{3.12}$$

Hence, for an investing firm (i > 0) the value of installed capital exceeds unity. With (3.10) it follows that the steady-state growth rate of private capital is

$$\gamma_k = \frac{q-1}{\phi\left(\theta_G\right)}.\tag{3.13}$$

The Euler equation is now given by

$$\gamma_c = \frac{(1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha) \left(A\theta_G^{\alpha} N^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}}}{q} + \frac{\dot{q}}{q} + \frac{(q - 1)^2}{2q\phi(\theta_G)} - \rho.$$
(3.14)

The first three terms on the right-hand side represent the rate of return on acquiring a unit of private capital at price q. The first term denotes the after-tax private marginal return on private capital deflated by the cost of capital q. The second term is the rate of capital gain. The third term reflects the marginal reduction in adjustment costs when k increases for given i deflated by q. In the absence of adjustment costs q = 1 for all t and (3.14) reduces to (3.4).

In the steady state, per-household magnitudes such as c, k, and i grow at the same rate; from (3.12) we also have $\dot{q} = 0$. Using (3.12) and (3.13) in the Euler condition (3.14) delivers the steady-state growth rate implicitly as

$$\frac{\phi\left(\theta_{G}\right)}{2}\gamma_{c}^{2} + \left[1 + \rho\phi\left(\theta_{G}\right)\right]\gamma_{c} = (1 - \tau_{y})(1 - \alpha)\left(A\theta_{G}^{\alpha}N^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho.$$
(3.15)

Hence, the right-hand side of (3.15) coincides with the equilibrium growth rate of (3.4) where adjustment costs are absent. However, since the left-hand side of (3.15) increases faster than proportionately in γ_c , the resulting steady-state growth rate must be smaller with than without adjustment costs.

Turning to the effect of productive government expenditure on the steady-state growth rate for the benchmark scenario with full income tax funding ($\theta_G = \tau_y$) we find

$$\frac{d\gamma_c}{d\theta_G} = \frac{-\gamma_c \phi'(\theta_G)\left(\frac{\gamma_c}{2} + \rho\right) + \alpha\left(1 - \theta_G\right)\frac{y}{k\theta_G} - (1 - \alpha)\frac{y}{k}}{1 + \phi\left(\theta_G\right)\left(\gamma_c + \rho\right)}.$$
(3.16)

The latter highlights three channels through which government activity affects the growth rate. First, the reduction in adjustment costs ($\phi' < 0$) increases the growth rate. The second and the third channel matter in the same way as in the scenario without adjustment costs: on the one hand, productive government expenditure enhances the productivity of the existing capital stock, on the other hand, the government must balance its budget which brings about a rise in the distortionary income tax rate.

Observe that a growth-maximizing expenditure share $\theta_G^* \in (0,1)$ may exist. It must be strictly greater than in the world without adjustment costs since $d\gamma_c/d\theta_G|_{\theta_G=\alpha} > 0$. If government expenditure is fully funded by a non-distortionary lump-sum tax the third channel in (3.16) vanishes such that an increase in government spending unambiguously raises the growth rate.

Pareto Efficiency

The social planner internalizes (3.1) and the equilibrium condition K = Nk. He maximizes utility (2.2) subject to the resource constraint $(1 - \theta_G) y = c + \varphi(i, k, \phi(\theta_G))$ and $i = \dot{k}$, where y is given by (3.5). Following the steps that led to the implicit statement of the equilibrium growth rate in (3.15), we obtain here

$$\frac{\phi\left(\theta_{G}\right)}{2}\left(\gamma_{c}^{P}\right)^{2}+\left[1+\phi\left(\theta_{G}\right)\rho\right]\gamma_{c}^{P}=\left(1-\theta_{G}\right)\left(A\theta_{G}^{\alpha}N^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}-\rho.$$
(3.17)

The latter generalizes (3.7) to the case with adjustment costs. Again the left-hand side is strictly convex in γ_c^P such that the constrained optimal growth rate is smaller under adjustment costs.

If we allow the social planner to determine the size of θ_G optimally, the welfare-maximizing share of government expenditure, θ_G^P , is greater than α , thus exceeding its level without adjustment costs. Intuitively, the possibility to reduce adjustment costs provides an additional incentive for the government to expand its activity relative to the size of the economy.

The comparison of the equilibrium to the constrained optimal growth rate reveals that both rates are the same if the right-hand sides of (3.15) and (3.17) take on the same value.

From (3.8) we know that this is the case whenever $(1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha) = 1 - \theta_G$. Interestingly, adjustment costs alter the implications of this condition for the optimal tax policy. For instance, if government expenditure is fully financed via lump-sum taxes ($\tau_y = 0$), then the Pareto-efficient growth rate cannot be implemented since $\theta_G^P > \alpha$. The reason is that a higher θ_G^P does not only internalize the externality associated with the pure public good but also reflects the planner's incentive to reduce adjustment costs. Therefore, at θ_G^P the equilibrium incentives to invest are too pronounced relative to the efficient growth rate. Accordingly, a strictly positive income tax $\tau_y^P = (\theta_G^P - \alpha) / (1 - \alpha) > 0$ is needed to support the Pareto-efficient allocation.

3.3 Public Goods Subject to Congestion

Often, the services derived from the provision of a public good are subject to congestion. Congestion effects arise if public goods are partially rival, i.e., their use as a productive input by one firm diminishes their usefulness to other firms. Examples include road infrastructure or police and fire protection.

Two forms of congestion can be distinguished, relative and aggregate (absolute) congestion. In the former case, the level of services derived by an individual firm depends on its size relative to the aggregate of firms. We refer to aggregate congestion if the level of services received by the individual firm is decreasing in the aggregate usage. As noted by Eicher and Turnovsky (2000), p. 344, highway usage is an example of the former and police protection an example of the latter:

"Unless an individual drives his car, he derives no service from a publicly provided highway, and in general the services he derives depend upon his own usage relative to that of others in the economy, as total usage contributes to congestion. Police protection may serve as an example of absolute congestion: in principle, people always enjoy this service, independent of their own actions, though the amount of service they may actually derive varies inversely with aggregate activity and the demands this places on the limited resources devoted to this public service."

To study relative congestion, we use the ratio of individual to aggregate private capital, k/K, to measure the size of an individual firm relative to the economy. Then, the productive services that a firm derives from public expenditure G is

$$g = G\left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{1-\sigma_G},\tag{3.18}$$

where $\sigma_G \in [0,1]$ parameterizes the degree of relative congestion associated with the public good G. This specification includes the pure public good case (without congestion)

for $\sigma_G = 1$. As σ_G declines, congestion becomes more pronounced. Yet, as long as $\sigma_G \in (0, 1)$, the government services derived by a firm of size k increases if G and K grow at the same rate. Barro and Sala-í-Martin (1992) analyze the case where $\sigma_G = 0$. Then, g increases only if G grows faster than K. The latter case is called *proportional* congestion (Turnovsky (2000b), p. 618). As in equilibrium K = Nk, the public good is then rival yet not excludable and the individual firm receives its proportionate share of services g = G/N.

One specification the literature uses to capture aggregate congestion is $g = GK^{\sigma_G-1}$, $\sigma_G \in [0, 1]$, i. e., government services are independent of firm size. With this specification, the firms' production function ceases to exhibit constant returns to scale in private and public capital. Therefore, steady-state growth can only arise under additional restrictive conditions. To avoid these complications, we restrict attention to the case of relative congestion with and without excludability.⁸ If a public good is excludable, then the government can identify the user and charge an access fee.

3.3.1 Relative Congestion Without Excludability

Under relative congestion, we obtain the production function of the individual firm from (2.1) and (3.18) as

$$y = A \left(\frac{G}{K}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{-\sigma_G \alpha} k.$$
(3.19)

Decentralized Equilibrium

Individual firms believe that a rise in k increases their benefit from the provision of public services and disregard the impact of their investment decision on G and K. Applying the reasoning that led to the Euler equation (3.4) and taking into account that $G/k = (A\theta_G N^{1-\alpha(1-\sigma_G)})^{1/1-\alpha}$ we find

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \sigma_G \alpha) \left(A N^{\sigma_G \alpha} \theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho.$$
(3.20)

Again, the first term on the right-hand side is the after-tax marginal private return on private capital. An increase in the degree of congestion, i. e., a decline in σ_G , has two effects on γ_c : On the one hand, it augments the output elasticity of private capital, $1 - \sigma_G \alpha$. On the other hand, it weakens the scale effect through $N^{\sigma_G \alpha}$. Which effect dominates depends on the number of household-producers and σ_G .

⁸See, e.g., Glomm and Ravikumar (1994) for a discrete-time model with absolute congestion. Their setup has a one period lag between the collection of taxes and the conversion of these revenues into public services. Hence, methodologically this study belongs to the "stock case" to which we turn in Section 4. Ott and Soretz (2007) argue that relative congestion of productive government activity may also be important for the spatial distribution of economic activity.

As in the pure public good case, the growth-maximizing share of government expenditure θ_G^* for the benchmark scenario with full income tax financing is equal to α .

Pareto Efficiency

The social planner is aware of the negative externality that the choice of k by an individual firm exerts on the production technology of all other firms via the implied increase in the aggregate capital stock K. He also knows that in a symmetric configuration no firm can gain an advantage from the provision of public services by raising its capital stock. Since all firms are identical, no firm can increase its size relative to other firms and/or the economy.

In other words, the planner internalizes the equilibrium condition K = Nk in (3.18) which then reduces to $g = GN^{\sigma_G-1}$. As a consequence, with (3.1) the relevant production function is $y = (AN^{\sigma_G \alpha} \theta_G^{\alpha})^{1/1-\alpha} k$ and the constrained efficient growth rate of consumption becomes

$$\gamma_c^P = (1 - \theta_G) \left(A N^{\sigma_G \,\alpha} \theta_G^{\alpha} \right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho. \tag{3.21}$$

The comparison of the equilibrium growth rate (3.20) to the constrained optimal growth rate (3.21) gives

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \sigma_G \alpha) = 1 - \theta_G.$$
 (3.22)

With $\sigma_G < 1$ the latter two equations generalize (3.7) and (3.8) to the case of congestion. With congestion, the equilibrium growth rate may again be too high relative to the efficient one. To see this, consider the case where θ_G is chosen optimally, i. e. $\theta_G^P = \alpha$. Then, if government expenditure is entirely financed by lump-sum taxes, i. e., $\tau_y = 0$, it holds that $\gamma_c > \gamma_c^P$. Intuitively, congestion drives a wedge between the private and the social marginal return to private capital and induces an incentive to over-accumulate private capital in the decentralized equilibrium. From (3.22) we derive the income tax rate for an optimally chosen share of government expenditure as

$$\tau_y^P = \frac{\alpha \left(1 - \sigma_G\right)}{1 - \sigma_G \alpha}, \quad \text{with} \quad \frac{d\tau_y^P}{d\sigma_G} < 0.$$
(3.23)

An income tax rate τ_y^P eliminates this wedge and implements the Pareto-efficient allocation. Clearly, τ_y^P increases the stronger the degree of congestion. In the extreme case of proportional congestion all government expenditure should be financed via income taxes, i. e. $\tau_y^P = \theta_G^P = \alpha$.

3.3.2 Relative Congestion With Excludability

Some public services subject to congestion are excludable. This means that a potential user of the service can be identified and charged a user fee. Examples include highways, bridges, universities, or schools. Ott and Turnovsky (2006) extend the previous setup and introduce a second public service that is excludable. The modified production function of individual firms is

$$y = f(k, g, e) = Ag^{\alpha}e^{\beta}k^{1-\alpha-\beta}, \qquad 0 < \alpha, \beta < 1,$$
(3.24)

where e is the benefit derived by the firm from the excludable public service. Just as the non-excludable public service G, the excludable one is subject to relative congestion such that

$$e = E\left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{1-\sigma_E};\tag{3.25}$$

here, E is the total amount of the excludable public service supplied by the government, and $\sigma_E \in [0, 1]$ measures the degree of relative congestion. Using (3.25) and (3.18) in (3.24) gives the production function as perceived by the individual firm

$$y = A \left(\frac{G}{K}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{-\alpha\sigma_G} \left(\frac{E}{K}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{-\beta\sigma_E} k.$$
(3.26)

For the government, the key difference between the provision of G and E is that the former must be financed through taxes whereas the latter can be financed through a fee paid by the individual user. Denote p this fee per unit of E. Then, the expression for the balanced government budget (2.5) becomes $G + E = \tau_y Y + \tau_c C + \tau N + pEN$. Similar to condition (3.1) for G, we assume that the provision of E is proportionate to the size of the economy, i.e., $E = \theta_E Y$ for all t.

Decentralized Equilibrium

For the individual household-producer, the new element is that besides c and k, she also determines in each period her demand for the excludable public service. The associated expenditure pE^d must be added to the flow budget constraint (2.3) which modifies to $\dot{k} = (1 - \tau_y) f(k, g, e) - (1 + \tau_c)c - \tau - pE^d$.

Since the choice of E^d does not affect utility directly, it is chosen to maximize the righthand side of the flow budget constraint. The associated optimality condition equates the marginal after-tax product of the excludable input to its marginal cost, i.e.,

$$(1 - \tau_y)\frac{\partial y}{\partial E^d} = (1 - \tau_y)\beta\frac{y}{E^d} = p.$$
(3.27)

The latter delivers the demand of each household-producer, $E^d(p)$. Since E is a public good, in equilibrium we have $E = E^d(p)$. Together with the proportionality constraint $E = \theta_E Ny$, we obtain from (3.27) the equilibrium value of p as

$$p = \frac{(1 - \tau_y)\beta}{\theta_E N}.$$
(3.28)

Intuitively, the equilibrium user fee declines with the total number of users.

Applying the same reasoning that led to the Euler equation (3.20) delivers the equilibrium growth rate

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha\sigma_G - \beta\sigma_E) \left(AN^{\sigma_G\,\alpha + \sigma_E\,\beta}\theta_G^{\alpha}\theta_E^{\beta}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha - \beta}} - \rho, \qquad (3.29)$$

which generalizes (3.20) of the non-excludable public input case to $\beta > 0$. Since firms neglect the congestive consequences of their own choice of the private capital input on the aggregate economy, they continue to overestimate the before-tax marginal product of capital.

Finally, consider the growth-maximizing government expenditure shares for the benchmark scenario where the provision of G is fully financed through income taxes, i. e, $\theta_G = \tau_y$. With two public goods and a user fee given by (3.28) the two shares θ_G and θ_E are linked by the government budget such that $\theta_E = \beta (1 - \theta_G)$. Using this condition, we obtain $\theta_G^* = \alpha$ and $\theta_E^* = \beta (1 - \alpha)$.

Pareto Efficiency

The social planner internalizes congestion effects, i.e., he considers (3.26) in conjunction with K = Nk and the proportionality conditions $Y = G/\theta_G = E/\theta_E$. Then, $y = \left(AN^{\sigma_G \alpha + \sigma_E \beta} \theta_G^{\alpha} \theta_E^{\beta}\right)^{1/1-\alpha-\beta} k$ and the resource constraint is $\dot{k} = (1 - \theta_G - \theta_E)y - c$. The constrained efficient growth rate obtains as

$$\gamma_c^P = \left(1 - \theta_G - \theta_E\right) \left(AN^{\sigma_G \,\alpha + \sigma_E \,\beta} \theta_G^{\alpha} \theta_E^{\beta}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha - \beta}} - \rho, \tag{3.30}$$

the first term on the right-hand side denoting the social marginal return on private capital.

If the social planner is allowed to choose θ_G and θ_E optimally, he picks $\theta_G^P = \alpha$ and $\theta_E^P = \beta^{.9}$.

The comparison of the equilibrium to the constrained optimal growth rate reveals that

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \sigma_G \alpha - \sigma_E \beta) = 1 - \theta_G - \theta_E.$$
 (3.31)

The latter has interesting consequences for the budgeting of government services. To see this, consider the case where $\theta_G^P = \alpha$ and $\theta_E^P = \beta$. Then, (3.28) and (3.31) deliver the following pair (τ_y^P, p^P) that implements the efficient allocation

$$\tau_y^P = \frac{(1 - \sigma_G)\alpha + (1 - \sigma_E)\beta}{1 - \sigma_G\alpha - \sigma_E\beta} \quad \text{and} \quad p^P = \frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha - \beta}{1 - \sigma_G\alpha - \sigma_E\beta}\right). \tag{3.32}$$

⁹Again, this result can be linked to the natural condition of productive efficiency. We obtain from equation (3.26) with K = Nk and Y = Ny that $dY/dG = \alpha (Y/G) = \alpha/\theta_G^P = 1$ and $dY/dE = \beta (Y/E) = \beta/\theta_E^P = 1$. Hence, the marginal product of both government services provided out of current production is one.

To satisfy the government's budget constraint at (τ_y^P, p^P) a residual lump-sum tax or subsidy may be necessary.

As a benchmark, consider the case where $\sigma_G = \sigma_E = 1$ such that both public services are congestion-free. Then, $\tau_y^P = 0$ and $p^P = 1/N$, i.e., there is no distortion of intertemporal prices and each firm's demand for the excludable public service satisfies the natural efficiency condition $\partial y/\partial E^d = p^P = 1/N$. In this case, the user fee fully finances the provision of E. However, the provision of G must be financed through some lump-sum tax to guarantee a balanced budget.

In the presence of congestion, $\tau_y^P > 0$ is necessary to correct for the congestion externalities. However, as τ_y^P increases the price of the excludable service must fall since its after-tax marginal product declines. Then, the provision of E requires cross-subsidization.

3.4 Public Consumption Services

Many publicly provided services matter for an economy because they directly enhance the utility of households without affecting technology. Examples include cultural and recreational public services such as museums, public parks, or public social events like fireworks. To study the role of such public consumption services, we extend the analysis of the pure public good case of Section 3.1 and add a non-excludable service that enters the utility function. This service is subject to absolute congestion. With these properties, our analysis combines the framework of Barro (1990) and Turnovsky (1996c).¹⁰

The household's intertemporal utility is now

$$u = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\rho t} \left(\ln c + b_h \ln h \right) dt, \qquad (3.33)$$

where h is the service the individual household derives from the public consumption good, and $b_h \ge 0$ measures the relative weight of this form of consumption. For simplicity, the per-period utility is separable in c and h.

The public consumption good is subject to aggregate congestion in total output such that the service, h, derived by each household falls short of the aggregate service, H, provided by the government. More precisely, we follow Turnovsky (1996c) and stipulate

$$h = H^{\sigma_H} \left(\frac{H}{Y}\right)^{1-\sigma_H}; \tag{3.34}$$

¹⁰Cazzavillan (1996) studies the role of a public good that simultaneously affects per-period utility and the production function of the representative household-producer. Under a more general utility function that allows for increasing returns in the consumption externality of public expenditure, he shows that local indeterminacy and endogenous stochastic fluctuations may arise.

here, $\sigma_H \in [0, 1]$ measures the degree of aggregate congestion with $\sigma_H = 1$ and $\sigma_H = 0$ capturing the special cases of a pure public good and of proportional congestion, respectively.

On the production side, we maintain the production function of equation (3.2). On the government side, we need to add H as government expenditure such that a balanced budget requires $G + H = \tau_y Y + \tau_c C + \tau N$. As in the previous sections, we tie the size of H to the size of the economy: $H = \theta_H Y$.

Decentralized Equilibrium

The individual household-producer behaves as in Section 3.1. Since H is non-excludable, there is no optimization with respect to h. Moreover, when choosing k, she disregards the link between k, aggregate output Y, and h that materializes under congestion.

As a result, the expression of the consumption growth rate in equilibrium is again given by (3.4).¹¹ However, if at least some part of H is funded via the distortionary income tax, then, the level of γ_c that satisfies the government's budget constraint is smaller. To see this, consider the benchmark where $G + H = \tau_y Y$. Then, $\tau_y = \theta_G + \theta_H$ such that

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \theta_G - \theta_H)(1 - \alpha) \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho.$$
(3.35)

Since the government channels additional resources into non-productive uses, the latter falls short of (3.4) with $\tau_y = \theta_G$. For the same reason, the growth-maximizing expenditure share of the productive government services $\theta_G^* = \alpha(1 - \theta_H)$, declines in θ_H . Further, in this case the growth-maximizing share of public consumption services is zero.

Pareto Efficiency

The omniscient planner considers the individual production function as in (3.5). The resource constraint is $\dot{k} = (1 - \theta_G - \theta_H)y - c$. The key new element appears in the per-period utility function. The planner knows that the congestion effect of equation (3.34), the proportionality requirement, $H = \theta_H Y$, and the aggregation Y = Ny imply $h = \theta_H (Ny)^{\sigma_H}$. Hence via (3.5), the choice of k directly affects per-period utility for $\sigma_H > 0$. The resulting constrained efficient steady-state growth rate is

$$\gamma_c^P = \left(1 - \theta_G - \theta_H\right) \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} - \frac{\rho}{1 + b_h\sigma_H}.$$
(3.36)

The first term on the right-hand side is the social marginal return on private capital. The second term is the social rate of time preference. The provision of the non-productive

¹¹This result hinges to some extent on the separability of c and h in the per-period utility function. If the marginal utility of c depends on h, then the household's willingness to postpone consumption depends on the growth rate of h. In a steady-state with congestion, the latter need not coincide with the steadystate growth rate of all other per-capita magnitudes. We leave a more detailed study of the impact of the interaction between c and h on the steady-state growth rate for future research.

public service reduces this rate. Intuitively, the presence of b_h captures the fact that a higher capital stock tomorrow raises the level of h, and hence tomorrow's utility. This effect is stronger the smaller the congestion effect.¹²

The equilibrium and the planner's growth rate coincide if and only if

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \Leftrightarrow (AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} \left[(1-\tau_y)(1-\alpha) - (1-\theta_G - \theta_H) \right] = \rho \left[1 - \frac{1}{1+b_h \sigma_H} \right].$$
(3.37)

The term in brackets on the left-hand side reflects the possible deviation of the private from the social marginal rate of return on private capital. The gap between these rates depends on the way government finances its expenditure. A novelty compared to the pure public good case of Section 3.1 is the deviation of the private and the social rate of time preference that appears on the right-hand side.

We may expand the planner's choice set and allow him to determine the size of θ_G and θ_H . Then, the efficient pair (θ_G^P, θ_H^P) satisfies the following optimality conditions

$$\theta_G^P = \alpha \left[\theta_H^P \left(\sigma_H - 1 \right) + 1 \right], \qquad (3.38)$$

$$\theta_{H}^{P} = \frac{b_{h}\rho}{1+b_{h}\sigma_{H}} \left[AN^{\alpha} \left(\theta_{G}^{P}\right)^{\alpha}\right]^{\frac{-1}{1-\alpha}}.$$
(3.39)

Assume that the pair (θ_G^P, θ_H^P) is unique in $[0, 1]^2$ such that equations (3.38) and (3.39) intersect only once as depicted in Figure 1.

Intersection A corresponds to the case where $b_h = 0$ and $\sigma_H \in [0, 1]$. Then, there is no utility associated with h. Hence, independently of the degree of congestion, the planner chooses $\theta_H^P = 0$ and $\theta_G^P = \alpha$ and the optimal allocation coincides with the one of Section 3.1. Case B has $b_h > 0$ and $\sigma_H \in (0, 1)$. Here, $\theta_H^P > 0$ and $0 < \theta_G^P < \alpha$. Moreover,

$$\frac{d\theta_G^P}{db_h} < 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{d\theta_H^P}{db_h} > 0,$$
(3.40)

$$\frac{d\theta_G^P}{d\sigma_H} > 0$$
 and $\frac{d\theta_H^P}{d\sigma_H} < 0.$ (3.41)

Since $b_h > 0$, the planner is ready to provide public consumption services according to the optimality condition $\partial u/\partial H = \partial u/\partial c$. As a consequence, the relative size of G falls. To grasp the effect of congestion, recall that the planner is aware of the positive effect of θ_G on h in the utility function. This effect is more pronounced the lower the degree of congestion. Hence, a rise in σ_H increases θ_G^P . In the limit $\sigma_H \to 1$, H is a pure public good and $\theta_G^P \to \alpha$ as shown as intersection C in the Figure 1. In any case, the welfare-maximizing share of public consumption services is positive. Hence, the provision

¹²In the special case of proportional congestion, where $\sigma_H = 0$, the effect of k on h disappears because (3.34) in conjunction with $H = \theta_H Y$ implies $h = \theta_H$.



Figure 1: Efficient pair (θ_G^P, θ_H^P)

of public consumption services may introduce a wedge between the goals of growth and welfare maximization.¹³

The income tax rate that implements the Pareto-efficient allocation is found to be $\tau_y^P = (1 - \sigma_H) \theta_H^P$. Hence, without the congestion externality, i.e., $\sigma_H = 1$, no income tax is needed to implement the Pareto-efficient allocation.

3.5 Endogenous Labor Supply

This section incorporates the labor-leisure decision, i. e., individual labor supply becomes endogenous. In this context, a consumption tax as well as a tax on labor income are distortionary since they affect the trade-off between consumption and leisure. Contrary to the analysis of Section 3.4, public consumption expenditure turns out to have a positive effect on the equilibrium growth rate. We develop an intuition for this result following the presentation of Turnovsky (2000a).

The representative agent has a per-period time endowment equal to one and allocates the fraction $l \in (0, 1)$ to leisure and (1 - l) to work. The per-period utility function takes the positive utility of leisure into account. More precisely, we stipulate

$$u = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[\ln c + b_{h} \ln h + b_{l} \ln l \right] e^{-\rho t} dt, \quad b_{h}, b_{l} \ge 0.$$
 (3.42)

¹³Park and Philippopoulos (2002) confirm this result in a setting that allows for a different set of secondbest optimal policies.

Since the focus is on the role of labor supply, we abstract from congestion effects associated with the provision of public consumption services, i. e., $\sigma_H = 1$ in (3.34) such that h = H.

On the production side, we incorporate labor as a productive input and generalize the production function of (3.2) to

$$y = A [G (1-l)]^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha}, \qquad 0 < \alpha < 1.$$
(3.43)

Hence, there are constant returns to scale both with respect to private capital and labor, and with respect to public and private capital. The former implies zero profits in a competitive environment whereas the latter allows for steady-state growth of labor productivity.

On the government side, we split the proportional income tax τ_y into a tax on wage income at rate τ_w and a tax on capital income at rate τ_r . With w and r denoting the real wage and the real rate of return on private capital, the balanced government budget becomes $G + H = \tau_w w (1 - l) N + \tau_r r K + \tau_c C + \tau N.$

Decentralized Equilibrium

Household-producers choose a plan (c, l, k) for each t such that (3.42) is maximized subject to the budget constraint $\dot{k} = (1 - \tau_w)w(1 - l) + (1 - \tau_r)rk - (1 + \tau_c)c - \tau$.

Following the steps that led to Euler equation (3.4) we obtain

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_r)(1 - \alpha) \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} (1 - l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho.$$
(3.44)

Observe that l appears as a determinant of γ_c . Intuitively, since labor and capital are complements in the production function (3.43), more leisure reduces the marginal rate of return on private capital. Moreover, l is a choice variable that needs to be pinned down.

To find a second condition that determines the level of leisure consistent with steadystate growth, consider the product market equilibrium condition that coincides with the economy's resource constraint $\dot{k} = (1 - \theta_G - \theta_H)y - c$. Expressing the latter in terms of the growth rate of private capital and using the static optimality condition for the consumption-leisure decision¹⁴ delivers

$$\gamma_k = \left[\left(1 - \theta_G - \theta_H\right) - \left(\frac{1 - \tau_w}{1 + \tau_c}\right) \frac{\alpha}{b_l} \left(\frac{l}{1 - l}\right) \right] \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} (1 - l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}}. \quad (3.45)$$

A steady state needs $\gamma_c = \gamma_k$. If this requirement gives rise to a unique and strictly positive steady-state growth rate, then there is a time-invariant level of steady-state leisure depending on the policy variables $\theta_G, \theta_H, \tau_r, \tau_w, \tau_c$.

¹⁴The latter condition requires the marginal rate of substitution between leisure and consumption to equal the relative price of both goods, i. e., $b_l c/l = w(1 - \tau_w)/(1 + \tau_c)$. Marginal cost pricing of labor gives $w = \alpha y/(1-l)$. Using both equations, we can determine the ratio c/y, which is then used to derive (3.45).

Turnovsky (2000a) shows that a rise in either public consumption services ($\theta_H \uparrow$) or in public productive services ($\theta_G \uparrow$) financed by a lump-sum tax increases the steady-state growth rate. As to θ_H , this is the result of two opposing forces. For a given labor supply, the growth rate declines since the government claims additional resources. However, households increase their labor supply to make up for this negative income effect. Overall the steady-state growth rate increases due to greater employment. These effects do not materialize when labor supply is inelastic as in Section 3.4. In such a setting a lump-sum financed increase in θ_H has no impact on steady-state growth.

The same two forces also operate in the case of an increase in θ_G . In addition, there is a third effect since a higher θ_G raises the equilibrium wage and, hence, the labor supply. As a result, the steady-state growth rate increases further such that $\partial \gamma_c / \partial \theta_G > \partial \gamma_c / \partial \theta_H > 0$.

If the lump-sum tax is accompanied by a consumption tax and/or a tax on wage income the positive link between steady-state consumption growth rate γ_c and θ_i , i = G, H, weakens. The reason is the distorted consumption-leisure decision, i. e., the household tries to avoid the additional tax burden and substitutes leisure for labor. Hence, with endogenous labor supply, a consumption tax ceases to be lump-sum and impinges on the economy's growth rate.

Pareto Efficiency

The social planner chooses a plan (c, l, k) for each t to maximize household utility subject to the economy's resource constraint. Compared to the optimization of competitive households, the omniscient planner takes into account that the choice of l and k has an effect on the level of government consumption services. Since $H = \theta_H Y$ appears in the utility function this channel affects the constrained optimal steady-state growth rate of consumption.

Given l, the optimization generates the following expressions for the planner's choice of γ_c^P and γ_k^P :

$$\gamma_c^P = \frac{(1 - \theta_G - \theta_H)}{1 - b_h \Omega(l)} \left(AN^{\alpha} \theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} (1 - l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} - \rho, \qquad (3.46)$$

$$\gamma_k^P = (1 - \theta_G - \theta_H) \frac{1 - \Omega(l)(1 + b_h)}{1 - b_h \Omega(l)} (A N^{\alpha} \theta_G^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} (1 - l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}}.$$
 (3.47)

Here, $\Omega(l) \equiv (1/b_l)(\alpha/(1-\alpha)(l/1-l))$. The presence of $b_h\Omega(l)$ in the Euler equation (3.46) captures the fact that, for a given level of leisure/labor, the presence of utility-enhancing government consumption expenditure increases the benefits from capital investment today, lowering the consumption-output ratio and positively affecting the growth rate of consumption.¹⁵ Further, the additional term $b_h\Omega(l)$ in the numerator of (3.47) reflects the

¹⁵The latter dominates the negative effect of leisure on the rate of return of private capital for any value of l if $b_h/b_l > 1$. If $0 < b_h/b_l < 1$, this only applies for not too small values of l.

fact that, from the planner's point of view, the marginal disutility of labor is lower since more labor means a higher consumption of H. Via this channel, the consumption-output ratio is lowered and the growth rate of capital is positively affected.

If we add the steady-state requirement $\gamma_c^P = \gamma_k^P$, then (3.46) and (3.47) give an expression for the constrained optimal steady-state growth rate that is similar to (3.36) with $\sigma_H = 1$ and a level of labor supply yet to be determined

$$\gamma_{c}^{P} = (1 - \theta_{G} - \theta_{H}) \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_{G}^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} (1 - l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} - \frac{\rho}{1 + b_{h}}.$$
(3.48)

In addition, (3.46) and (3.47) determine the steady-state labor supply implicitly.¹⁶

We can use our results to derive conditions under which a fiscal policy mix implements the constrained efficient allocation. This requires

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad (1 - \tau_r)(1 - \alpha) = \frac{1 - \theta_G - \theta_H}{1 - b_h \Omega(l)}, \tag{3.49}$$

$$\gamma_k = \gamma_k^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \left(\frac{1-\tau_w}{1+\tau_c}\right)(1-\alpha)\Omega(l) = (1-\theta_G - \theta_H)\frac{\Omega(l)}{1-b_h\Omega(l)}.$$
 (3.50)

According to the first of these conditions, τ_r has to be set such that the private marginal after-tax return on private capital equals the social rate of return on private capital. The second condition equalizes the consumption-output ratios of the equilibrium and planner's choice. It is then straightforward to see that the desired policy mix must satisfy the condition

$$(1-\tau_r)\left(\frac{1+\tau_c}{1-\tau_w}\right) = 1. \tag{3.51}$$

Intuitively, the effect of a distortionary tax on capital income can be offset by a compensating distortion of the consumption-leisure trade-off that strengthens labor supply. As long as lump-sum taxation is a feasible option any policy mix satisfying (3.51) is consistent with the government's budget constraint.¹⁷

If the social planner is allowed to pick θ_G and θ_H optimally, one finds that the optimal choice involves

$$\theta_G^P = \alpha \quad \text{and} \quad \theta_H^P = (1 - \alpha) b_h \Omega(l),$$
(3.52)

i. e., the optimal share of productive government expenditure satisfies the natural condition of productive efficiency, and the optimal share of consumption expenditure is tied to the optimal level of leisure. Interestingly, from (3.49) and (3.50) the implementation of (θ_G^P, θ_H^P) is only possible if $\tau_r = 0$ and $\tau_w = -\tau_c$.

¹⁶This condition is $\Omega(l)(1+b_h(1+z(l))) = z(l)$, where $z(l) \equiv \rho \left[(1-\theta_G - \theta_H) \left(A\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} (1-l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} \right]^{(-1)}$.

¹⁷Raurich (2003) studies optimal tax policies in the model of Turnovsky (2000a) assuming that neither lump-sum nor consumption taxes are admissible, yet the government's budget must be balanced in all periods.

3.6 Small Open Economy

Next, we turn to a small open economy with productive government expenditure, where agents are free to accumulate internationally traded bonds in a perfect world capital market. To highlight the role of openness we restrict attention to a pure public good such that the production function of household-producers is given by (3.2). Moreover, we abstract from the presence of public consumption services.

Since bonds and private capital are perfect substitutes as stores of value, in equilibrium they must pay the same after-tax rate of return, which is tied to the exogenous world interest rate \bar{r} . Hence, with government expenditure a fixed fraction of aggregate output according to (3.1) and an exogenous labor supply, this implies

$$(1-\tau_y)(1-\alpha)\left(A\theta_G^{\alpha}N^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} = \bar{r}(1-\tau_b),\tag{3.53}$$

where τ_b is the tax rate on foreign bond income. Obviously, the pair of tax rates τ_y and τ_b that satisfies this condition cannot be chosen independently. To circumvent this problem, we introduce adjustment costs such that the price of installed capital, q, is variable and adjusts in equilibrium such that these after-tax rates of return are the same for any arbitrarily specified tax rates. The investment cost function is independent of government activity and given by

$$\varphi(i,k) \equiv \left(1 + \frac{i}{2k}\right)i,\tag{3.54}$$

which simplifies (3.9) by fixing $\phi = 1$.

First, we study the case of an exogenous labor supply and then incorporate a labor-leisure trade-off. We shall see that the implications for government activity substantially differ in both cases. The exposition is based on Turnovsky (1999a).

3.6.1 Exogenous Labor Supply

Decentralized Equilibrium

Denote b the stock of net foreign bonds held by a household-producer at t and recall that k is the stock of capital in her (domestic) firm. Then, her flow budget constraint is given by

$$\dot{b} = \bar{r}(1 - \tau_b)b + (1 - \tau_y)y - (1 + \tau_c)c - \varphi(i, k) - \tau.$$
(3.55)

The government budget modifies to $G = \tau_y Y + \tau_c C + \overline{\tau} \tau_b b N + \tau N$.

The objective of household-producers is to choose a plan (c, i, b, k) that maximizes utility (2.2) subject to (3.55) and $\dot{k} = i$. From the individual's optimality conditions with respect to c and b we obtain the Euler equation as

$$\gamma_c = \bar{r}(1 - \tau_b) - \rho. \tag{3.56}$$

Hence, in a small open economy, the consumption growth rate is independent of domestic production conditions. It only depends on the given world interest rate, the tax rate on foreigns bonds, and on the rate of time preference.

The optimality conditions with respect to k and i deliver

$$q = 1 + \frac{i}{k},$$
 (3.57)

$$\bar{r}(1-\tau_b) = \frac{(1-\tau_y)(1-\alpha) \left(A\theta_G^{\alpha}N^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}}{q} + \frac{\dot{q}}{q} + \frac{(q-1)^2}{2q}.$$
(3.58)

As we saw in (3.12) the value of installed capital for an investing firm is greater than one. Equation (3.58) is a non-linear differential equation that describes the evolution of q such that the after-tax rate of return on traded bonds is equal to the after-tax rate of return on private domestic capital. The latter comprises the same elements as discussed following equation (3.14). Observe that (3.58) collapses to (3.53) for q = 1.

Turning to the steady state, we know from (3.57) that private domestic capital grows at the rate $\gamma_k = q - 1$, where q satisfies (3.58) for $\dot{q} = 0.^{18}$ Thus, the steady-state growth rate of capital (and output) depends on the domestic production technology as well as on various fiscal policy parameters. In contrast to the closed economy, consumption, capital and output generically grow at different rates, with the difference being reconciled by the accumulation of traded bonds.

As to the role of government activity on steady-state growth one finds that

$$\frac{d\gamma_k}{d\theta_G} > 0, \quad \frac{d\gamma_c}{d\theta_G} = 0; \quad \frac{d\gamma_k}{d\theta_G}\Big|_{\theta_G = \tau_y} \stackrel{\leq}{\leq} 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \alpha \stackrel{\leq}{\leq} \theta_G, \quad \frac{d\gamma_c}{d\theta_G}\Big|_{\theta_G = \tau_y} = 0.$$
(3.59)

The first two derivatives describe the effect of a rise in government expenditure financed through an adjustment in lump-sum taxes. The steady-state growth rate of capital increases since a higher θ_G increases the marginal product of capital such that the steadystate value of q in (3.58) increases; hence, $\gamma_k = q - 1$ rises. Due to (3.56), γ_c is independent of θ_G . The second two derivatives consider the benchmark case where government activity is only financed by income taxation, i. e., $\theta_G = \tau_y$. This introduces an offsetting effect on the steady-state value of q since a necessary rise in taxes reduces the after-tax marginal product of capital in (3.58). As in previous sections, there is a growth-maximizing share of government expenditure equal to α at which the price of installed capital is maximized.

The effect of τ_b on steady-state growth is given by

$$\frac{d\gamma_k}{d\tau_b} > 0, \quad \frac{d\gamma_c}{d\tau_b} < 0. \tag{3.60}$$

¹⁸ The presence of convex adjustment costs may prevent the existence of a balanced growth path; for a discussion see Turnovsky (1996b). Further, the transversality condition of the household-producer's problem requires $\bar{r}(1-\tau_b) > \gamma_k$ and implies that only the smaller root of (3.58) is consistent with steadystate growth. Moreover, at this root, the right-hand side of (3.58) is negatively sloped.

Intuitively, an increase in the tax on bond income lowers the net rate of return on traded bonds, which requires a lower rate of return on installed capital, hence a higher q according to (3.58). Moreover, a higher τ_b reduces the households' willingness to postpone consumption and γ_c declines.

Pareto Efficiency

The planner maximizes u with respect to c, i, k, and b subject to $\dot{k} = i$ and the resource constraint

$$\dot{b} = (1 - \theta_G)y + \bar{r}b - c - \varphi(i, k).$$
(3.61)

Accordingly, we obtain the constrained efficient steady-state growth rates of consumption and capital as

$$\gamma_c^P = \bar{r} - \rho \quad \text{and} \quad \gamma_k^P = q^P - 1,$$
(3.62)

where q^P is determined by

$$\bar{r} = \frac{(1 - \theta_G) \left(A\theta_G^{\alpha} N^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}}}{q^P} + \frac{(q^P - 1)^2}{2q^P}.$$
(3.63)

The interpretation of (3.62) and (3.63) mimics the one of (3.56) and (3.58) in the decentralized equilibrium. Due to the presence of τ_b , we have $\gamma_c^P > \gamma_c$. It follows that $\tau_b = 0$ is necessary to implement the constrained efficient allocation. Then, for the same reasons set out in Footnote 18, we find

$$q \leq q^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \gamma_k \leq \gamma_k^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \frac{\theta_G - \alpha}{1 - \alpha} \leq \tau_y.$$
 (3.64)

Allowing the social planner to additionally determine the optimal size of the government reveals that the growth-maximizing share of government expenditure is also welfaremaximizing, i. e. $\theta_G^P = \alpha$. If $\theta_G \neq \alpha$, we obtain that capital and interest income should be taxed at different rates. This result is driven by the assumption that government expenditure is a fixed fraction of output and thereby independent of interest income.

3.6.2 Endogenous Labor Supply

In this section we introduce an endogenous labor supply in the small open economy of the previous section.

Decentralized Equilibrium

The household-producer chooses a plan (c, l, i, b, k) to maximize

$$u = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[\ln c + b_{l} \ln l \right] e^{-\rho t} dt$$
 (3.65)

subject to $\dot{k} = i$, the budget constraint $\dot{b} = (1 - \tau_w)w(1 - l) + (1 - \tau_r)rk + \bar{r}(1 - \tau_b)b - (1 + \tau_c)c - \varphi(i, k) - \tau$, and the production function (3.43). This leads to the conditions for consumption and domestic capital growth (3.56) and (3.57) as well as the following optimality conditions

$$\bar{r}(1-\tau_b) = \frac{(1-\tau_r)(1-\alpha) \left(AN^{\alpha}\theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} (1-l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{q} + \frac{\dot{q}}{q} + \frac{(q-1)^2}{2q}, \quad (3.66)$$

$$\frac{c}{y} = \left(\frac{1-\tau_w}{1+\tau_c}\right) \frac{\alpha}{b_l} \left(\frac{l}{1-l}\right). \tag{3.67}$$

In the steady state $\dot{q} = 0$ such that (3.66) determines the equilibrium price of installed capital given *l*. Condition (3.67) implies that in a steady state with constant labor supply *c* and *y* must grow at the same rate. Moreover, one can show that in a steady state *y*, *k*, and *G* must grow at the same rate. It follows that

$$\gamma_k = q - 1 = \bar{r}(1 - \tau_b) - \rho = \gamma_c.$$
 (3.68)

Equation (3.68) implies that, contrary to the case with exogenous labor supply, in equilibrium capital, output, and consumption grow at the same rate determined by the net interest rate on foreign bonds and the rate of time preference. Hence, with endogenous labor supply the production side is irrelevant for the steady-state growth rates of consumption *and* domestic capital.

From (3.68) it follows that out of the set of fiscal policy variables, only changes in τ_b generate steady-state growth effects. The reason is that (3.68) also pins down q. Therefore, in a steady state changes in θ_G , τ_k , and τ_b lead to adjustments of labor supply such that (3.66) remains valid. One readily verifies that $dl/d\theta_G > 0$, $dl/d\tau_k < 0$, and $dl/d\tau_b > 0$. Moreover, since τ_w and τ_c do not show up in (3.66) it follows that these taxes are essentially lump-sum, i. e., $dl/d\tau_w = dl/d\tau_c = 0$. This is in stark contrast to the results obtained under endogenous labor supply in the closed economy of Section 3.5.

Pareto Efficiency

The social planner chooses a plan (c, l, i, b, k) to maximize individual utility (3.65) subject to $\dot{k} = i$ and the resource constraint (3.61) where y is given by (3.43). Following the same procedure as in the decentralized setting we obtain the steady-state conditions

$$\gamma_k^P = q^P - 1 = \bar{r} - \rho = \gamma_c^P \tag{3.69}$$

$$\bar{r} = \frac{(1-\theta_G) \left(AN^{\alpha} \theta_G^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} (1-l)^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{q^P} + \frac{(q^P-1)^2}{2q^P}$$
(3.70)

$$\frac{c}{y} = \left(\frac{1-\theta_G}{1-\alpha}\right) \frac{\alpha}{b_l} \left(\frac{l}{1-l}\right).$$
(3.71)

The tax rates that replicate the constrained efficient steady-state path, bring (3.66) - (3.68) in line with (3.69) - (3.71). These are $\tau_b = 0$ and $(1 - \tau_r)(1 + \tau_c)/(1 - \tau_w) = 1$, where the latter is a restatement of condition (3.51) derived for the closed economy. The welfaremaximizing share of government expenditure is equal to α . Moreover, with $\theta_G = \theta_G^P$, the optimal tax rates can be shown to be $\tau_r = 0$ and $\tau_w = -\tau_c$. This confirms the results of the small open economy with exogenous labor supply and for the closed economy with endogenous labor supply. However, here the choice of θ_G^P does not have a growth effect but assures the static efficiency of the steady state.

4 Productive Government Activity as a Stock

The difference between the stock and the flow approach to modeling productive government activity is that G(t) is not provided out of current output but results from past public investments, i. e., G(t) is the aggregate stock of public capital at t.

The first paper that treats productive government activity as a stock in our analytical framework is Futagami, Morita, and Shibata (1993). These authors assume that the public capital stock is a pure public good such that g = G. Here, we begin our discussion of the stock approach by directly allowing for the congestion of public services. Then, we incorporate two aspects that arise only if we think of productive government activity as a stock.¹⁹

4.1 Public Goods Subject to Congestion

We follow Turnovsky (1997a) and assume that current public investment is a constant fraction of aggregate output denoted by $\theta_G \in (0, 1)$. We abstract from depreciation such that G evolves according to

$$\dot{G} = \theta_G Y. \tag{4.1}$$

The household-producer's production technology continues to be as in (2.1). As a consequence, in the stock case G will only be a constant fraction of Y in the steady state, whereas in the flow case this holds for all t in accordance with condition (3.1).

¹⁹The stock modeling approach has incorporated many facets that we will not discuss in detail. For instance, Lau (1995) and Chen (2006) incorporate public consumption expenditure affecting the per-period utility function. See Baier and Glomm (2001) and Raurich-Puigdevall (2000) for stock models with an endogenous labor supply. Turnovsky (1997b) is the reference for a small open economy. This framework is applied by Chatterjee, Sakoulis, and Turnovsky (2003) to analyze the process of developmental assistance through unilateral capital transfers tied to investment in public capital. Gómez (2004) devises a fiscal policy that allows to implement the Pareto-efficient allocation when investments are irreversible. Devarajan, Xie, and Zou (1998) study alternative ways how to provide public capital.

Let the service derived by the individual household-producer g be given by (3.18). As in the flow model of Section 3.3.1, the individual household-producer chooses c and k to maximize utility u of (2.2) subject to her flow budget constraint (2.3) and the production function (3.19) which we repeat here for convenience

$$y = A\left(\frac{G}{K}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{-\sigma_G \alpha} k$$

In her intertemporal optimization the individual household-producer neglects her impact on the aggregate private capital stock K and takes the stock of public capital G as given. Then, the Euler condition obtains as

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \sigma_G \alpha) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \rho \equiv \gamma_c \left(\frac{G}{k}, \tau_y\right), \tag{4.2}$$

where we use the fact that in equilibrium K = Nk.

This growth rate looks similar to the Euler condition in the flow model (see, e. g., equation (3.3) where $\sigma_G = 1$). Again, the first term on the right-hand side of the Euler equation is the private marginal product of private capital. In the flow model, the ratio G/k is determined by exogenous parameters since G is proportionate to Y at all t. Therefore, the growth rate of consumption is time-invariant. Here, this is not the case since the proportionality of G and Y occurs only in the steady state. As a consequence, additional differential equations are needed to fully characterize the dynamical system.

To derive these conditions, we divide the aggregate resource constraint (3.6) by k and the public accumulation equation (4.1) by G. Taking into account that equilibrium production is given by

$$y = AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} k, \tag{4.3}$$

we find two additional differential equations in ${\cal G}$ and k

$$\gamma_G = \theta_G A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1) + 1} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha - 1} \equiv \gamma_G \left(\frac{G}{k}\right), \qquad (4.4)$$

$$\gamma_k = (1 - \theta_G) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \frac{c}{k}.$$
(4.5)

The dynamical system of the economy is then described by equations (4.2), (4.4), and (4.5) in conjunction with initial conditions k_0 , G_0 , and the transversality condition of the household-producer's optimization problem.

Here, we focus on the steady state and its properties. From (4.2) and (4.3), G, k, and y have the same steady-state growth rate. This growth rate and the steady-state ratio, $(G/k)|_{ss}$, can be obtained from (4.2) and (4.4). Figure 2 illustrates the loci γ_c and γ_G as functions of G/k.



Figure 2: Steady-State Growth Rates: Decentralized Equilibrium (left) and the Implementation of the Pareto-Efficient allocation (right).

Next, we turn to the effect of fiscal policy variables on steady-state growth. A lump-sum financed increase in the share of government investment, θ_G , corresponds to an upward shift of the γ_G -locus in Figure 2, which implies a higher steady-state growth rate. If instead of a lump-sum tax a distortionary income tax is used for funding such that $\theta_G = \tau_y$, then in addition the γ_c -locus pivots downwards. The overall effect on the steady-state growth rate growth rate depends on the relative strength of both shifts. Analytically, one can show that

$$\frac{d\gamma_c}{d\theta_G} \stackrel{>}{\geq} 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \alpha \stackrel{>}{\geq} \theta_G. \tag{4.6}$$

Hence, as in the flow model, the growth-maximizing share of government investment is $\theta_G^* = \tau_y^* = \alpha.$

Pareto Efficiency

In contrast to the individual household-producers the social planner not only chooses c and k but also the public capital stock G to maximize utility (2.2) subject to the aggregate resource constraint (3.6) and the accumulation equation of public capital (4.1) with aggregate production y given by (4.3). This problem delivers the steady-state Euler equation²⁰

$$\gamma_c^P = (1 - \theta_G) \frac{\partial y}{\partial k} + \theta_G N \frac{\partial y}{\partial G} - \rho.$$
(4.7)

The first two terms on the right-hand side have an interpretation as the social return of an additional marginal unit of output. Along the optimal path, the planner allocates the fraction $1 - \theta_G$ of this unit to private capital and the fraction θ_G to public capital. This partition is imposed by the public accumulation equation (4.1). The second term

²⁰A detailed derivation of this and other results discussed in this section can be found in the Appendix.

corresponds to the benefit of a marginal increase in the provision of public capital associated with θ_G units of current output. Since the planner views G as a pure public good, the marginal increase in aggregate output is N times the marginal increase in individual output.

In light of (4.3) and (4.4), (4.7) can be written as

$$\gamma_c^P = (1 - \theta_G) (1 - \alpha) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} + \alpha \gamma_G - \rho.$$
(4.8)

In a steady state $\gamma_c^P = \gamma_G$ such that (4.8) becomes

$$\gamma_c^P = (1 - \theta_G) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \frac{\rho}{1 - \alpha} \equiv \gamma_c^P \left(\frac{G}{k}, \theta_G\right).$$
(4.9)

The steady-state ratio $(G/k)|_{ss}^{P}$ is then determined by the conditions (4.9) and (4.4). See Figure 2 for an illustration.

Comparing γ_c of (4.2) to γ_c^P of (4.9) shows that

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} \left[(1 - \tau_y)(1 - \sigma_G \alpha) - (1 - \theta_G)\right] = \frac{-\rho\alpha}{1 - \alpha}.$$
 (4.10)

Hence, an income tax rate τ_y that implements $(G/k)|_{ss}^P$ given θ_G exists. It is lower the lower the degree of congestion (i. e., the larger σ_G) and higher the greater θ_G .

Allowing the planner to choose θ_G optimally delivers

$$\theta_G^P = \alpha - \frac{\rho}{AN^{\sigma_G \,\alpha} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha}} < \alpha. \tag{4.11}$$

Interestingly, θ_G^P falls short of the growth-maximizing level $\theta_G^* = \alpha$. This difference occurs as the advantage of a larger public investment share materializes only tomorrow whereas the cost in terms of foregone consumption is to be paid today. This intertemporal aspect explains why θ_G^P declines in ρ . Since the benefit of an increase in the stock of public capital accrues to all firms, θ_G^P increases in N. Notice, that no intertemporal consideration is present when θ_G^P is determined in the flow model of Section 3.3.1. Therefore, in that case the growth-maximizing and the welfare-maximizing expenditure shares coincide, i. e., $\theta_G^* = \theta_G^P = \alpha$.

One can show that an income tax rate equal to

$$\tau_y^P = \frac{\alpha \left(1 - \sigma_G\right)}{1 - \sigma_G \alpha},\tag{4.12}$$

implements the Pareto-efficient steady-state allocation involving θ_G^P . The optimal income tax corrects for the congestion externality and recommends the same tax rate as in the

flow model of Section 3.3.1 (see equation (3.23)). The larger the degree of congestion the greater the optimal income tax.²¹

A curious implication arises when the degree of congestion is sufficiently high, i.e., σ_G close to zero. For instance, in the extreme case of proportional congestion, $\sigma_G = 0$, $\tau_y^P = \alpha > \theta_G^P$ such that the government should impose an income tax rate in excess of its current investment costs and refund the excess revenue in form of lump-sum taxes. In the respective flow model (equation (3.23)) the optimal income tax is $\tau_y^P = \alpha = \theta_G^P$ so that government expenditure is exactly covered. Thus, in the stock model a larger income tax rate is required in order to offset the incentive to overaccumulate private capital due to congestion.

4.2 Maintenance of Public Capital

Due to its use or the passage of time, a fraction of the current stock of public capital depreciates. Maintenance refers to investments that replace depreciated public capital. Conceptually, the incorporation of such replacement investments requires the identification of wear and tear with different parts of the existing public capital stock. Since here this stock comprises homogeneous capital goods, such an identification is not possible. Therefore, we follow the literature, in particular Rioja (2003) and Kalaitzidakis and Kalyvitis (2004), and model replacement investments as an attempt to reduce the instantaneous rate of depreciation of public capital. The new question is then how the economy splits up its expenditure on public capital into "new" public capital goods and in replacement investments, i.e., investments that reduce the rate of depreciation.

Denote G_I the per-period investments in "new" public capital goods and M the level of perperiod maintenance investments. Then, the economy's gross investment is $G_I + M$. With D denoting depreciation, the stock of public capital evolves according to $\dot{G} = G_I + M - D$.

As proposed by Kalaitzidakis and Kalyvitis (2004), we model the difference between replacement investments and actual depreciation as

$$M - D \equiv \delta_G \left(\frac{M}{Y}\right) G, \quad \text{with} \quad \delta_G(.) > 0 > \delta'_G(.).$$
(4.13)

The idea is that a higher level of maintenance M reduces the level of depreciation whereas a more intense usage measured by Y increases it. With (4.13) the accumulation of public

²¹Marrero and Novales (2005) show that the presence of a significant level of wasteful public expenditure that does neither affect the economy's technology nor preferences is another reason for why a positive income tax leads to faster long-run growth and higher welfare than lump-sum taxes. Turnovsky (1997b) confirms the results of (4.11) and (4.12) for a small open economy with exogenous labor supply and private and public investments subject to adjustment costs.

capital is governed by

$$\dot{G} = G_I - \delta_G \left(\frac{M}{Y}\right) G. \tag{4.14}$$

We assume that the government finances its total expenditure, $G_I + M$, via income taxes such that the government's budget constraint is

$$M + G_I = \tau_y Y. \tag{4.15}$$

Let θ_M and $(1 - \theta_M)$ denote the shares of total government expenditure that are allocated to maintenance and "new" capital goods, respectively, i. e.,

$$M = \theta_M \tau_y Y$$
 and $G_I = (1 - \theta_M) \tau_y Y.$ (4.16)

To simplify, we abstract from congestion effects such that the individual householdproducer's production function is (3.2) which we restate here for convenience

$$y = A\left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha}k$$

Decentralized Equilibrium

The individual household-producer chooses c and k to maximize her utility u given by (2.2) subject to her flow budget constraint $\dot{k} = (1 - \tau_y)y - c$. The Euler condition is then

$$\gamma_c = (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \alpha)A\left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \rho, \qquad (4.17)$$

which corresponds to (4.2) for $\sigma_G = 1$. The growth rates of public and private capital result from the public accumulation equation (4.14) and the individual's resource constraint

$$\gamma_G = (1 - \theta_M) \tau_y A N \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha - 1} - \delta_G(\theta_M \tau_y), \qquad (4.18)$$

$$\gamma_k = (1 - \tau_y) A \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \frac{c}{k}.$$
(4.19)

Then, the dynamical system of the economy is given by (4.17)-(4.19) and initial conditions k_0 , G_0 , and the transversality condition of the household-producer's optimization problem.

Analogously to the previous section, we obtain the steady-state ratio $(G/k)|_{ss}$ and the common steady-state growth rate for c, G, and k from (4.17) and (4.18). These equations also reveal that no clear cut comparative statics for the steady-state growth rate with respect to θ_M and τ_y are available. However, a steady-state growth-maximizing share of maintenance investments, θ_M^* , can be determined, at least implicitly. The total differential of (4.17) and (4.18) delivers the condition

$$AN\left[\left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^*\right]^{\alpha-1} = -\delta'_G\left(\theta^*_M\tau_y\right). \tag{4.20}$$

Intuitively, the optimal allocation of current output to public capital investments satisfies $\partial \dot{G}/\partial G_I = \partial \dot{G}/\partial M$, i.e., the last marginal unit spent on maintenance contributes the same amount to the change in public capital stock as the last marginal unit spent on "new" public capital goods.

Kalaitzidakis and Kalyvitis (2004) show further that the growth-maximizing income tax rate, τ_y^* , evaluated at $\theta_M = \theta_M^*$ is

$$\tau_y^* = \frac{\alpha}{1 - \theta_M^* (1 - \alpha)} > \alpha. \tag{4.21}$$

This result contrasts with the finding of the previous sections where the growth-maximizing tax rate was found to equal α . Intuitively, the presence of maintenance adds a productive use to public capital expenditure. To exploit this opportunity, the optimal income tax should be higher than without it. To strengthen this intuition we introduce an explicit functional form such that $\delta_G = (\theta_M \tau_y)^{-\varepsilon}$, $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, τ_y^* of (4.21) becomes

$$\tau_y^* = \frac{\alpha \left(\varepsilon + 1\right)}{1 + \alpha \varepsilon}.\tag{4.22}$$

In the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, the effect of maintenance vanishes and the optimal income tax is $\tau_y^* = \alpha$. On the other hand, the effect of maintenance becomes more pronounced the larger ε and $\tau_y^* \to 1$ as $\varepsilon \to \infty$.²²

Further, it can be shown that the growth-maximizing share of new public capital goods, $(G_I/Y)^* = (1 - \theta_M^*)\tau_y^* < \alpha$. With $\delta_G = (\theta_M \tau_y)^{-\varepsilon}$, we find using (4.22) in (4.21) that $\theta_M^* = \varepsilon/(\varepsilon + 1)$. Then,

$$(G_I/Y)^* = \frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha\varepsilon} < \alpha. \tag{4.23}$$

Hence, for $\varepsilon = 0$ we are back in the case without maintenance and $(G_I/Y)^* = \alpha$. Moreover, as $\varepsilon \to \infty$ all public expenditure goes to maintenance and $(G_I/Y)^* \to 0$.

4.3 Stock-Flow Model of Public Goods

Thus far, we have considered either the flow or the stock approach to modeling public services. An interesting question taken up by Tsoukis and Miller (2003) and Ghosh and

²²Similar to the present setup, Greiner and Hanusch (1998) have a stock model where government expenditure can be allocated to two uses. They are the accumulation of the public capital stock and a subsidy to private capital accumulation. The point of their paper is that a rise in the subsidy rate for private capital investment is not necessarily growth-enhancing because it diverts resources away from productive government spending. Moreover, these authors show that for strictly positive subsidy rates the growth-maximizing income tax rate is strictly greater than α . Hence, the qualitative finding of (4.21) may also be the consequence of a growth policy that strengthens the investment incentives of private firms.

Roy (2004) is whether and how new implications for growth and welfare arise if both approaches appear simultaneously.

Let G_f denote the flow of public services and G_s the stock of public capital. Then, a natural extension of the production function (3.2) is

$$y = \left(G_s^{\beta} G_f^{1-\beta}\right)^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha}, \quad 0 < \beta < 1.$$

$$(4.24)$$

We assume that $G_s = \theta_{G_s} Y$ and $G_f = \theta_{G_f} Y$. Moreover, total government expenditure is fully financed via a distortionary income tax and continues to be a fixed fraction of output, i. e.,

$$\dot{G}_s + G_f = \tau_y Y = \theta_G Y, \quad \theta_G \equiv \theta_{G_s} + \theta_{G_f}.$$
(4.25)

Tsoukis and Miller (2003) show that the growth-maximizing shares are

$$\theta_G^* = \alpha, \quad \theta_{G_s}^* = \alpha \beta, \qquad \theta_{G_f}^* = \alpha (1 - \beta).$$
(4.26)

Hence, each facet of public expenditure receives a share equal to its respective output elasticity.

The Pareto-efficient allocation mimics the properties of the previous sections. In particular, one finds that the equilibrium shares of total expenditure and of public capital investment are too large relative to their welfare-maximizing level whereas the equilibrium flow share is the welfare-maximizing one, i. e.,

$$\theta_G^P < \theta_G^*, \quad \theta_{G_s}^P < \theta_{G_s}^*, \quad \theta_{G_f}^P = \theta_{G_f}^*. \tag{4.27}$$

Ghosh and Roy (2004) analyze the question how the government by deciding on the ratio of the two types of public spending can at least partially compensate for the non-optimal choices of the private sector.

5 Variations on a Theme

5.1 Stochastic Environments

Turnovsky (1999c) studies the role of productive government expenditure in a stochastic version of the flow model with congestion as presented in Section 3.3.1. He finds that under uncertainty the growth-maximizing level of government expenditure depends on the degree of relative risk aversion. If the latter is strong, then the growth-maximizing expenditure share exceeds the Pareto-efficient one.

On the production side, uncertainty is introduced via a productivity shock, du, that is i.i.d.-normal with zero mean and variance $\sigma_u^2 dt > 0$. This shock is proportional to the current mean flow of output. More precisely, the flow of output, dy, produced by the individual household-producer over the small time period (t, t + dt) is dy = $Ag^{\alpha}k^{1-\alpha}[dt + du]$, where g is given by (3.18). Government expenditure comprises a deterministic, productivity-enhancing component, G, and a stochastic component, G'. The total flow of resources claimed by the government over the period dt amounts to $d\bar{G} = Gdt + G'du$. Both types of government expenditure are fixed fractions of the aggregate mean rate of the output flow, i.e. $G = \theta_G N A g^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha}$ and $G' = \theta'_G N A g^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha}$. Thus, the fraction θ_G now represents the government's choice of the (deterministic) size of government, while θ'_G represents the fraction of the aggregate output shock absorbed by the government.

To allow for varying degrees of risk aversion the per-period utility function is now $(c^{1-v}-1)/(1-v), v \ge 1$. Here, v is the coefficient of relative risk aversion.

This setting delivers a unique stochastic balanced growth path where the mean growth rate depends on the degree of relative risk aversion, the variance of the shock, the shares of government expenditure, and the degree of relative congestion. With $\sigma_u^2 = 0$ and v = 1this growth rate collapses to the one under certainty as given by (3.20). To interpret the equilibrium under uncertainty we follow Turnovsky (1999c) and consider reasonable degrees of relative risk aversion to be v > 1.

The mean steady-state growth rate increases in the variance of du. Intuitively, a higher variance of the shocks means higher risk. Therefore, more risk-averse agents increase their precautionary savings, which allows for faster growth.

The deterministic growth-maximizing share of government expenditure under full income tax financing, θ_G^* , exceeds α . The reason is that a higher θ_G raises the productivity of private capital and, since the shock is proportional to output, magnifies the volatility of output. As the latter induces more precautionary savings that increase the mean growth rate there is an additional reason to increase θ_G .

The introduction of uncertainty reduces the Pareto-efficient share of deterministic government expenditure below θ_G^* . Intuitively, the planner takes the individual's risk aversion into account and chooses a smaller steady-state growth rate that comes along with lower volatility. The optimal tax structure that implements the Pareto-efficient allocation has to internalize the congestion externality. This is accomplished with a strictly positive income tax. This tax reduces the growth rate of the economy and, hence, the degree of volatility.²³

 $^{^{23}}$ Turnovsky (1999b) considers a small open economy under the same uncertainty as above. He shows that the Pareto-efficient share of government expenditure is greater in the open than in the closed economy

5.2 Increasing Returns

Thus far, we have assumed that the production function of the individual firm exhibits constant returns to scale with respect to private capital and productive government expenditure at the social level. Constant returns are, among others, responsible for the existence of a balanced growth path and the absence of transitional dynamics in the flow models based on Barro (1990). Intuitively, this assumption is not mandatory. For instance, in developing countries the density of the road network may be so low that twice as much private capital and twice as many roads more than double output.

Conceptually, in the presence of external effects associated with productive government expenditure, the expected return on private capital investments of individual firms depends on the investment decisions of all other firms. Thus, there is scope for a self-fulfilling prophecy (Krugman (1991)). If all household-producers believe the return on investment to be high, they will invest a lot today. Then, tomorrow aggregate output and, accordingly, government expenditure will be large. The latter raises the return on investment such that the belief of a high rate of return is confirmed in equilibrium.

Abe (1995) and Zhang (2000) incorporate increasing returns at the social level into the flow setup and find multiple equilibria and sophisticated transitional dynamics.²⁴ For instance, the dynamical system of Abe (1995) delivers a new locally-stable and stationary steady state in addition to an endogenous growth path. Accordingly, the economy may be trapped in a sufficiently small neighborhood of the stationary steady state. Alternatively, a coordinated hike in investment activity may push the economy sufficiently far away from this steady state such that it embarks on an endogenous growth path. The latter may be either due to a self-fulfilling prophecy or to an unpredicted and temporary rise in government activity.²⁵

5.3 Non-Scale Growth

In previous sections, we have emphasized that the steady-state growth rate depends on the size of the economy measured by the "number" of household-producers - at least as

if and only if the economy is a net creditor. The reason is that some of the risk of domestic productivity shocks is exported and reduces the volatility of domestic income. Hence, for a given degree of risk aversion, the individual is ready to accept a greater volatility caused by a bigger size of the government.

²⁴Both authors generalize the production function (3.2) to $y = AG^{\alpha}k^{\beta}$ where $\alpha + \beta > 1$. Moreover, they allow for the public good to affect per-period utility. Abe (1995) adopts the research production function of Romer (1986), p. 1019, to model capital accumulation.

²⁵Some details necessary to guarantee the success of the suggested government intervention are quite involved. Zhang (2000) reaches similar policy conclusions, e.g., when his interior stationary steady state is an unstable focus.

long as the provision of the public good has an element of non-rivalry (see footnote 5). The larger N, the faster the economy grows. This finding is often referred to as the *scale effect* and has been criticized on both empirical and theoretical grounds (Jones (1995)).²⁶ Here, it arises since the level of government expenditure is tied to the size of the economy measured by aggregate output Ny.

Eicher and Turnovsky (2000) study productive government spending as a flow in a nonscale endogenous growth model in the spirit of Jones (1995). As new elements, their approach incorporates population growth, i. e., a constant growth rate of the "number" of household-producers, $\gamma_N \neq 0$, and a simultaneous treatment of relative and aggregate congestion of public services.²⁷ The latter is achieved with a modification of equation (3.18). Here, the functional form of productive services derived by an individual firm from public expenditure is

$$g = G\left(\frac{k}{K}\right)^{1-\sigma_R} K^{\sigma_A - 1},\tag{5.1}$$

where $\sigma_R, \sigma_A \in [0, 1]$ parameterize the degree of relative and aggregate congestion, respectively. Clearly, $\sigma_R = \sigma_A = 1$ is the special case of a pure public good.

In addition, Eicher and Turnovsky (2000) allow for increasing or decreasing returns to scale in the production function of the individual firm such that (2.1) is replaced by $y = Ak^{\beta}g^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$. Upon combining this production function, (5.1), and (3.1) one obtains at the social level

$$y = (A\theta_G^{\alpha})^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} k^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma_A-1)+\beta}{1-\alpha}} N^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma_R+\sigma_A-1)}{1-\alpha}}.$$
(5.2)

The latter is consistent with a balanced growth path involving $\gamma_c = \gamma_k = \gamma_y$ if

$$\gamma_c = \frac{\alpha \left(\sigma_R + \sigma_A - 1\right)}{1 - \beta - \alpha \sigma_A} \gamma_N \gtrless 0.$$
(5.3)

To fix ideas, assume that the marginal product of capital in (5.2) is strictly positive, i. e., $\alpha(\sigma_A - 1) + \beta > 0$, and let $\gamma_N > 0$. If the denominator of (5.3) is positive, then the marginal product of capital is decreasing in (5.2). As a consequence, y cannot grow as fast as k unless some of the growth of y is due to population growth. Indeed, the numerator is only strictly positive if the output elasticity of labor is positive such that population

²⁶The scale effect is a feature of the first-generation endogenous growth models of Romer (1990), Grossman and Helpman (1991), and Aghion and Howitt (1992). Here, it results from the specification of the production function for new knowledge. Subsequent idea-based growth models follow Jones (1995) and modify this functional relationship to find qualitatively similar steady-state growth rates as the one derived in equation (5.3). See Jones (1999) for a concise summary of this literature and Eicher and Turnovsky (1999) for a general treatment.

²⁷Pintea and Turnovsky (2006) study the role of relative and aggregate congestion in a two-sector nonscale model with private and "public" firms.

growth contributes positively to the growth of y. In turn, this is the case if the degrees of congestion are not too pronounced.

The way we find the steady-state growth rate of (5.3) is quite different from previous sections. In fact, here we are not concerned with first-order conditions to determine intertemporal prices and, hence, the households' Euler condition. Instead, we require the consistency of equal growth rates of per-capita magnitudes with the economy's technology given by (5.2). As a result, the steady-state growth rate is independent of preference parameters like ρ or fiscal policy variables such as θ_G . Consequently, the derivation of a growth-maximizing share of government expenditure θ_G^* as discussed in Section 3 becomes irrelevant.

By contrast, a welfare-maximizing share of government expenditure, θ_G^P , can still be determined since the static allocation consistent with steady-state growth need not be efficient. Eicher and Turnovsky (2000) show that $\theta_G^P = \alpha$. Moreover, there is a time-invariant income tax rate that implements the Pareto-efficient allocation $\tau_y^P = \alpha(2 - \sigma_R - \sigma_A)/(\beta + \alpha(1 - \sigma_R))$. Intuitively, τ_y^P internalizes both externalities caused by relative and aggregate congestion. Clearly, τ_y^P decreases in σ_R and σ_A .

6 Concluding Remarks

What is the role of productive government expenditure for sustained economic growth? The literature surveyed in this paper provides a rich set of hints to a full-fledged answer.

First, it establishes an analytical framework in which productive government activity is necessary for balanced growth of per-capita magnitudes. Without government activity, we would be back in the neoclassical growth model without technical change and sustained long-run growth. In this framework, government activity can be treated either as a flow or as a stock. In both cases the technology of the economy has the following properties. At the level of individual firms, there are constant returns to scale with respect to private capital, k, and the services derived from productive government activity, g. At the social level, two assumptions imply that the production function of the individual firm becomes, at least asymptotically, linear in k. First, services, g, derived by individual firms are proportional to the level of total government activity, G. Second, the current flow of government expenditure is proportional to the size of the economy. In the flow case, since $G = \theta_G Y$ the linearity in k holds at all t; in the stock case, since $\dot{G} = \theta_G Y$, this linearity holds only in the steady state.

As a consequence, the steady-state properties of the scenarios under scrutiny are similar to those of the AK-model such that the Euler equation determines the steady-state growth rate. We use this property to study and compare the link between productive government activity, economic growth, and welfare in different economic settings.

Second, productive government expenditure impacts on the steady-state growth rate of consumption through a direct effect on the technology and an indirect effect on investment incentives through the mode of financing. The direct effect is strictly positive except for the small open economy where consumption growth is determined by parameters that are exogenous to the domestic economy. This can be verified from the first column of Table I. It shows the effect of a larger government share, θ_G , on consumption growth under full lump-sum financing. Another polar case has full income tax financing. Such a tax reduces the after-tax marginal return on private capital. Hence, the indirect effect on consumption growth is strictly negative. Column 2 in Table I reveals that these opposing forces tend to give rise to a growth-maximizing government share. In most settings, this share is equal to the output elasticity of the public input, α . If the government service in addition reduces adjustment costs, then $\theta_G^* > \alpha$; if the government also provides consumption services, then $\theta_G^* < \alpha$.

	$\frac{d\gamma_c}{d\theta_G}$	$ heta_{G}^{*}$	$ heta_G^P$	$ au_{y}^{P}$
Flow Modeling				
1. Pure Public Good Case	+	α	α	0
2. Adjustment Costs	+	> \alpha	> \alpha	> 0
3.1 Public Goods Subject to Congestion Without Excludability	+	α	α	>0 (for $\sigma_G \neq 1$)
3.2 Public Goods Subject to Congestion With Excludability	+	α	α	$\begin{cases} 0 & \sigma_{\rm G} = \sigma_{\rm E} = 1 \\ > 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$
4. Public Consumption Services	+	$\alpha(1-\theta_{_H})$	$0 < \theta_G^P \le \alpha$	$(1 - \sigma_H) \theta_H^P$
5. Endogenous Labor Supply	+	N.A.	α	$\tau_{\scriptscriptstyle r}=0,\;\tau_{\scriptscriptstyle w}=-\tau_{\scriptscriptstyle c}$
6.1 SOE: Exogenous Labor Supply	0	N.A.	α	$\tau_y^P = \tau_b^P = 0$
6.2 SOE: Endogenous Labor Supply	0	N.A.	α	$\tau_{\scriptscriptstyle r}=0,\;\tau_{\scriptscriptstyle w}=-\tau_{\scriptscriptstyle c}$
Stock Modeling				
Relative Congestion Without Excludability	+	α	< α	$\begin{cases} > 0 \sigma_{\rm G} \in [0,1) \\ = 0 \sigma_{\rm G} = 1 \end{cases}$

Table I: Summary of the Main Findings

Third, the welfare-maximizing, i.e., Pareto-efficient, share of government expenditure -Column 3 of Table I - need not coincide with the growth-maximizing government share. This reflects the trade-off involved in the consumption-savings decision that the planner takes into account: faster growth requires higher investment outlays and reduces consumption today. Most interestingly, here the difference between the flow and the stock variant matters. In the stock case, the benefit from government expenditure today is smaller since it augments output only tomorrow. Therefore, the welfare-maximizing share of government expenditure is smaller.

Fourth, as shown in Column 4 of Table I, appropriate fiscal policy measures can implement the Pareto-efficient allocation. Intuitively, a strictly positive income tax can be used to correct for overaccumulation of private capital due to a negative externality such as congestion.

Arguably, within this well-defined analytical framework further facets of the link between productive government expenditure and sustained economic growth can be studied. One important aspect for economic growth is the government's ability and willingness to enforce "the rule of law." On the one hand, we can think of private corruption that a strong government may want to combat. This introduces an alternative form to use collected resources in a productive way. An interesting question is then what the optimal degree of corruption depends on if a given amount of tax revenues must be allocated towards competing productive tasks. This goes beyond Mauro (1996) who introduces corruption as a proportional tax on income in the setup of Barro (1990) and finds no distortion in the composition of public spending. On the other hand, the government itself may be weak and corrupt, hence, an impediment to economic growth.²⁸ One way to incorporate the consequences of inefficient government behavior is to assume that the government cannot transform collected tax revenues one-to-one into, say, productive public infrastructure. Finally, an interesting and related question concerns the determinants of the share of productive government expenditure. While in the models discussed above θ_G was either exogenous or chosen optimally by a planner, in reality this parameter reflects fundamental characteristics of the process of collective decision-making and the distribution of preferences and endowments (see, e.g., Alesina and Rodrik (1994)).

How about the role of productive government expenditure for sustained economic growth once we leave the well-defined analytical framework based on Barro (1990)? Arguably, one weakness of this approach is the knife-edge assumption of constant returns to scale (see, e.g., Solow (1994) for a critique of such assumptions). We have seen in Section 5.2 that increasing returns substantially alter the predictions of the growth performance. While the presence of increasing returns is empirically not implausible the policy recommendations of these models are hard to formulate since there is no natural way to select among multiple equilibria. Clearly, more research is needed here.

 $^{^{28}}$ See Acemoglu (2005) for a different notion of weak and strong states and their implications for economic development.

Some authors argue forcefully against the framework of Barro (1990) because neither the prediction of scale effects nor the dependency of the steady-state growth rate on taxation finds empirical support (see, e.g., Peretto (2003)). Indeed, the steady-state growth rate generated by non-scale models tends to be independent of government activity and the size of the economy. However, as we have seen in Section 5.3, the steady-state growth rate in the model of Eicher and Turnovsky (2000) is entirely determined by the technology of the economy and its consistency with a balanced-growth path. The role of economic agents is then quite passive. Moreover, in cross-country growth regressions the partial correlation between population growth and the growth rate of per-capita GDP is often found to be negative (see, e.g., Barro and Sala-í-Martin (2004) or Kormendi and Meguire (1985)).

In any case, it seems fair to say that the main body of the existing literature on productive government expenditure and economic growth is rooted in the tradition of investmentbased endogenous growth models. In view of the strength and weaknesses of this approach it will be desirable in future research to incorporate productive government expenditure into idea-based endogenous growth models. This allows to address new questions, e.g. related to the effect of government activity on the productivity of an economy's research technology. On the other hand, these studies will generate findings that should be compared to those presented in this paper in order to select robust policy implications.

7 Appendix: The Pareto-Efficient Allocation of Section 4.1

Derivation of Equation (4.7)

The present-value Hamiltonian for the social planner's optimization problem is

$$H = lnc e^{-\rho t} + \lambda e^{-\rho t} \left[(1 - \theta_G) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} G^{\alpha} k^{1 - \alpha} - c \right] + v e^{-\rho t} \theta_G A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1) + 1} G^{\alpha} k^{1 - \alpha}.$$

The optimality conditions with respect to c, k and G, for given θ_G , then obtain as

$$\frac{1}{c} = \lambda$$
 (7.1)

$$(1-\alpha)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)}\left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha}\left[(1-\theta_G)+\mu N\theta_G\right] = \rho - \frac{\dot{\lambda}}{\lambda}$$
(7.2)

$$\frac{\alpha A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha-1}}{\mu} [(1-\theta_G) + \mu N \theta_G] + \frac{\dot{\mu}}{\mu} = \rho - \frac{\dot{\lambda}}{\lambda}, \tag{7.3}$$

where $\mu \equiv v/\lambda$ denotes the endogenously determined shadow value of public capital in terms of private capital.

Then, (7.1) to (7.3) deliver the planner's consumption growth rate, γ_c^P , and a differential equation describing the evolution μ

$$\gamma_c^P = (1-\alpha)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} \left[(1-\theta_G) + \mu N\theta_G\right] - \rho, \tag{7.4}$$

$$\dot{\mu} = \left[\frac{(1-\alpha)\mu G}{k} - \alpha\right] A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha-1} \left[(1-\theta_G) + \mu N \theta_G\right].$$
(7.5)

The growth rates of private and public capital are given by (4.4) and (4.5). For convenience, we repeat them here

$$\gamma_G = \theta_G A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1) + 1} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha - 1}, \tag{7.6}$$

$$\gamma_k = (1 - \theta_G) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} \left(\frac{G}{k}\right)^{\alpha} - \frac{c}{k}.$$
(7.7)

As the steady-state equilibrium of this economy is one in which consumption, private and public capital all grow at the same rate, it is convenient to express equations (7.4)-(7.7) in terms of the stationary variables $z \equiv G/k$ and $x \equiv c/k$. Then, the following set of differential equations determines the equilibrium dynamics of this economy

$$\frac{\dot{z}}{z} = \theta_G A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1) + 1} z^{\alpha - 1} - (1 - \theta_G) A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} z^{\alpha} + x$$
(7.8)

$$\frac{\dot{x}}{x} = [(1-\theta_G) + \mu N\theta_G](1-\alpha)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)}z^{\alpha} - \rho - (1-\theta_G)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)}z^{\alpha} + x$$
(7.9)

$$\dot{\mu} = [(1-\alpha)\mu z - \alpha]AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)}z^{\alpha - 1}[(1-\theta_G) + \mu N\theta_G].$$
(7.10)

Further, the following transversality conditions must hold

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda k e^{-\rho t} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{t \to \infty} v G e^{-\rho t} = 0.$$

The steady-state condition $\dot{z} = \dot{x} = \dot{q} = 0$ delivers

$$x - (1 - \theta_G)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} z^{\alpha} = -\theta_G AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1) + 1} z^{\alpha - 1},$$
(7.11)

$$x - (1 - \theta_G)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)}z^{\alpha} = \rho - [(1 - \theta_G) + \mu N\theta_G](1 - \alpha)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)}z^{\alpha},$$
(7.12)

$$[(1 - \alpha)\mu z - \alpha] A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G - 1)} z^{\alpha - 1} [(1 - \theta_G) + \mu N \theta_G] = 0.$$
(7.13)

Equation (7.13) implies that the steady-state value of μ is given by

$$\mu = \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \frac{1}{z}.\tag{7.14}$$

Substituting (7.14) into (7.4) delivers

$$\gamma_{c}^{P} = AN^{\alpha(\sigma_{G}-1)}z^{\alpha-1}\left[(1-\theta_{G})(1-\alpha)z+\alpha N\theta_{G}\right] - \rho$$

$$= (1-\theta_{G})\underbrace{(1-\alpha)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_{G}-1)}z^{\alpha}}_{\partial y/\partial k} + \theta_{G}N\underbrace{\alpha AN^{\alpha(\sigma_{G}-1)}z^{\alpha-1}}_{\partial y/\partial G} - \rho, \qquad (7.15)$$

such that (7.15) corresponds to equation (4.7) of Section 4.1 with y given by (4.3).

Derivation of θ_G^P of Equation (4.11)

Maximizing the Hamiltonian with respect to θ_G , i.e., $\partial H/\partial \theta_G = 0$, delivers

$$\begin{split} \lambda A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)} G^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha} &= \upsilon A N^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)+1} G^{\alpha} k^{1-\alpha} \\ \mu^P &= \frac{1}{N}. \end{split}$$

Hence, for an unconstrained Pareto-optimum $\dot{\mu} = 0$ is required. From (7.14) it follows that $z^P = \alpha N/(1 - \alpha)$, and thus $\dot{z} = 0$. Then, from (7.9) and the transversality condition we know that also x must be constant at all times. Equalizing the right-hand sides of (7.11) and (7.12) and substituting z^P and μ^P gives

$$\theta_G A N^{\alpha \sigma_G} \left(\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\right)^{\alpha-1} = (1-\alpha) A N^{\alpha \sigma_G} \left(\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} - \rho \tag{7.16}$$

$$\frac{\rho\alpha}{1-\alpha} = (\alpha - \theta_G)AN^{\alpha\sigma_G}\left(\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\right) .$$
(7.17)

Resubstituting (7.17) into (7.12) we obtain

$$x^{P} = \rho + (\alpha - \theta_{G})AN^{\alpha\sigma_{G}} \left(\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\alpha}$$
$$= \rho + \frac{\rho\alpha}{1 - \alpha}$$
$$= \frac{\rho}{1 - \alpha}.$$

Moreover, solving (7.16) for θ_G delivers

$$\theta_G^P = \alpha - \frac{\rho}{AN^{\alpha\sigma_G} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha}},\tag{7.18}$$

which corresponds to (4.11) in the main text.

Derivation of τ_y^P of Equation (4.12)

From (7.4) with $\mu = \mu^P$ we obtain

$$\gamma_c^P = (1-\alpha)AN^{\alpha(\sigma_G-1)} \left(z^P\right)^{\alpha} - \rho.$$
(7.19)

Then, comparing γ_c of (4.2) to γ_c^P of (7.19) reveals that

$$\gamma_c = \gamma_c^P \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad (1 - \tau_y)(1 - \sigma_G \alpha) = (1 - \alpha).$$

Thus, the income tax rate that implements the Pareto-efficient allocation is given by

$$\tau_y^P = \frac{\alpha \left(1 - \sigma_G\right)}{1 - \sigma_G \alpha},$$

which corresponds to (4.12).

References

ABE, N. (1995): "Poverty Trap and Growth with Public Goods," Economics Letters, 47, 361-366.

- ACEMOGLU, D. (2005): "Politics and Economics in Weak and Strong States," Journal of Monetary Economics, 52, 1199–1226.
- AGHION, P., AND P. HOWITT (1992): "A Model of Growth through Creative Destruction," *Econometrica*, 60(2), 323–351.
- ALESINA, A., AND D. RODRIK (1994): "Distributive Politics and Economic Growth," The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 109(02), 465–490.
- ARROW, K., AND M. KURZ (1970): Public Investment, the Rate of Return, and Optimal Fiscal Policy. John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- ASCHAUER, D. A. (1988): "The Equilibrium Approach to Fiscal Policy," Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 20(1), 41–62.
- (1989): "Is Public Expenditure Productive?," Journal of Monetary Economics, 23, 177–200.
- BAIER, S. L., AND G. GLOMM (2001): "Long-Run Growth and Welfare Effects of Public Policies with Distortionary Taxation," Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 25, 2007–2042.
- BARRO, R. J. (1989): "The Neoclassical Approach to Fiscal Policy," in *Modern Business Cycle Theory*, ed. by R. J. Barro, pp. 178–235. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.

(1990): "Government Spending in a Simple Model of Endogenous Growth," *Journal of Political Economy*, 98(5), 103–25.

- BARRO, R. J., AND X. SALA-Í-MARTIN (1992): "Public Finance in Models of Economic Growth," *Review of Economic Studies*, 59(4), 645–661.
- (2004): Economic Growth. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 2nd edn.
- BAXTER, M., AND R. G. KING (1993): "Fiscal Policy in General Equilibrium," American Economic Review, 83(3), 315–34.
- CANNING, D., AND P. PEDRONI (2004): "The Effect of Infrastructure on Long-Run Economic Growth," mimeo, Harvard University.
- CAZZAVILLAN, G. (1996): "Public Spending, Endogenous Growth, and Endogenous Fluctuations," Journal of Economic Theory, 71, 394–415.
- CHATTERJEE, S., G. SAKOULIS, AND S. J. TURNOVSKY (2003): "Unilateral Capital Transfers, Public Investment, and Economic Growth," *European Economic Review*, 47, 1077–1103.
- CHEN, B.-L. (2006): "Economic Growth with an Optimal Public Spending Composition," Oxford Economic Papers, 58, 123–136.
- DE HAAN, J., AND W. ROMP (2007): "Public Capital and Economic Growth: A Critical Survey," *Perspektiven der Wirtschaftspolitik*, 8(Special Issue), 6–52.
- DEVARAJAN, S., D. XIE, AND H. ZOU (1998): "Should Public Capital be Subsidized or Provided?," Journal of Monetary Economics, 41, 319–331.

- EASTERLY, W., AND S. REBELO (1993): "Fiscal Policy and Economic Growth," Journal of Monetary Economics, 32, 417–458.
- EICHER, T. S., AND S. J. TURNOVSKY (1999): "Non-Scale Models of Economic Growth," The Economic Journal, 109, 394–415.

(2000): "Scale, Congestion and Growth," *Economica*, 67, 325–346.

- FISHER, W. H., AND S. J. TURNOVSKY (1995): "The Composition of Government Expenditure and its Consequences for Macroeconomic Performance," *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 19(4), 747–786.
- (1998): "Public Investment, Congestion, and Private Capital Accumulation," *Economic Journal*, 108(447), 399–413.
- FUTAGAMI, K., Y. MORITA, AND A. SHIBATA (1993): "Dynamic Analysis of an Endogenous Growth Model with Public Capital," Scandinavian Journal of Economics, 95(4), 607–625.
- GHOSH, S., AND U. ROY (2004): "Fiscal Policy, Long-Run Growth, and Welfare in a Stock-Flow Model of Public Goods," *Canadian Journal of Economics*, 37(3), 742–756.
- GLOMM, G., AND B. RAVIKUMAR (1992): "Public versus Private Investment in Human Capital: Endogenous Growth and Income Inequality," *Journal of Political Economy*, 100(4), 818–834.
- (1994): "Public Investment in Infrastructure in a Simple Growth Model," Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 18(6), 1173–1187.
- GÓMEZ, M. A. (2004): "Optimal Fiscal Policy in a Growing Economy with Public Capital," Macroeconomic Dynamics, 9, 419–435.
 - (2007): "Fiscal Policy, Congestion, and Endogenous Growth," Journal of Public Economic Theory (forthcoming).
- GREINER, A., AND H. HANUSCH (1998): "Growth and Welfare Effects of Fiscal Policy in an Endogenous Growth Model with Public Investment," *International Tax and Public Finance*, 5(3), 249–261.
- GROSSMAN, G. M., AND E. HELPMAN (1991): Innovation and Growth in the Global Economy. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- HAYASHI, F. (1982): "Tobin's Marginal q and Average q: A Neoclassical Interpretation," *Econometrica*, 50(1), 213–224.
- JONES, C. I. (1995): "R&D-Based Models of Economic Growth," Journal of Political Economy, 103, 759–784.
- JONES, C. I. (1999): "Growth: With or Without Scale Effects?," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings, 89(2), 139–144.
- KALAITZIDAKIS, P., AND S. KALYVITIS (2004): "On the Macroeconomic Implications of Maintenance in Public Capital," *Journal of Public Economics*, 88(3-4), 695–712.
- KORMENDI, R. C., AND P. G. MEGUIRE (1985): "Macroeconomic Determinants of Growth: Cross-Country Evidence," Journal of Monetary Economics, 16(2), 141–163.

KRUGMAN, P. R. (1991): "History versus Expectations," Quarterly Journal of Economics, 106, 651–667.

- LAU, S. P. (1995): "Welfare-Maximizing vs. Growth-Maximizing Shares of Government Investment and Consumption," *Economics Letters*, 47, 351–359.
- MARRERO, G. A., AND A. NOVALES (2005): "Growth and Welfare: Distorting versus Non-Distorting Taxes," *Journal of Macroeconomics*, 27, 403–433.
- MAURO, P. (1996): "The Effects of Corruption on Growth, Investment, and Government Expenditure," IMF Working Paper, WP/96/98.
- OECD (2007): "Economic Survey of India, 2007," Policy Brief.
- OTT, I., AND S. SORETZ (2007): "Governmental Activity, Integration, and Agglomeration," *mimeo*, *Leuphana University of Lüneburg*.
- OTT, I., AND S. J. TURNOVSKY (2006): "Excludable and Non-Excludable Public Inputs: Consequences for Economic Growth," *Economica*, 73(292), 725–748.
- PARK, H., AND A. PHILIPPOPOULOS (2002): "Dynamics of Taxes, Public Services, and Endogenous Growth," *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 6, 187–201.
- PERETTO, P. F. (2003): "Fiscal Policy and Long-Run Growth in R&D-based Models with Endogenous Market Structure," Journal of Economic Growth, 8, 325–347.
- PINTEA, M., AND S. J. TURNOVSKY (2006): "Congestion and Fiscal Policy in a Two-Sector Economy with Public Capital: A Quantitative Assessment," *Computational Economics*, 28, 177–209.
- RAURICH, X. (2003): "Government Spending, Local Indeterminacy and Tax Structure," *Economica*, 70(280), 639–653.
- RAURICH-PUIGDEVALL, X. (2000): "Global Indeterminacy in an Endogenous-Growth Model with Public Capital," Journal of Economics, 71(3), 255–280.
- RIOJA, F. K. (2003): "Filling Potholes: Macroeconomic Effects of Maintenance versus New Investments in Public Infrastructure," *Journal of Public Economics*, 87(9-10), 2281–2304.
- ROMER, P. M. (1986): "Increasing Returns and Long-Run Growth," Journal of Political Economy, 94, 1002–1037.
- (1990): "Endogenous Technological Change," Journal of Political Economy, 98(5), 71–102.
- SOLOW, R. M. (1994): "Perspectives on Growth Theory," Journal of Economic Perspectives, 8(1), 45-54.
- TSOUKIS, C., AND N. J. MILLER (2003): "Public Services and Endogenous Growth," Journal of Policy Modeling, 25, 297–307.
- TURNOVSKY, S. J. (1996a): "Fiscal Policy, Adjustment Costs, and Endogenous Growth," Oxford Economic Papers, 48(3), 361–381.
- (1996b): "Fiscal Policy, Growth, and Macroeconomic Performance in a Small Open Economy," Journal of International Economics, 40, 41–66.
- (1996c): "Optimal Tax, Debt, and Expenditure Policies in a Growing Economy," *Journal of Public Economics*, 60(1), 21–44.
- (1997a): "Fiscal Policy in a Growing Economy with Public Capital," *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 1, 615–639.

(1997b): "Public and Private Capital in an Endogenously Growing Economy," in *Dynamics, Economic Growth, and International Trade*, ed. by B. S. Jensen, and K. Wong, chap. 6, pp. 171–210. The University of Michigan Press.

(1999a): "Fiscal Policy and Growth in a Small Open Economy with Elastic Labour Supply," Canadian Journal of Economics, 32(5), 1191–1214.

(1999b): "On the Role of Government in a Stochastically Growing Open Economy," Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 23(5-6), 873–908.

- (1999c): "Productive Government Expenditure in a Stochastically Growing Economy," *Macroe*conomic Dynamics, 3, 544–570.
- (2000a): "Fiscal Policy, Elastic Labor Supply, and Endogenous Growth," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 45(1), 185–210.

(2000b): Methods of Macroeconomic Dynamcis. MIT Press.

UNDATA (2008): United Nations Statistics Division, http://data.un.org/ accessed on April 12th 2008.

- ZAGLER, M., AND G. DÜRNECKER (2003): "Fiscal Policy and Economic Growth," Journal of Economic Surveys, 17(3), 397–418.
- ZHANG, J. (2000): "Public Services, Increasing Returns, and Equilibrium Dynamics," Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 24(2), 227–246.

CESifo Working Paper Series

for full list see www.cesifo-group.org/wp (address: Poschingerstr. 5, 81679 Munich, Germany, office@cesifo.de)

- 2253 Keith E. Maskus and Shuichiro Nishioka, Development-Related Biases in Factor Productivities and the HOV Model of Trade, March 2008
- 2254 Jeremy Edwards and Sheilagh Ogilvie, Contract Enforcement, Institutions and Social Capital: the Maghribi Traders Reappraised, March 2008
- 2255 Imed Drine and Christophe Rault, Purchasing Power Parity for Developing and Developed Countries. What can we Learn from Non-Stationary Panel Data Models?, March 2008
- 2256 Scott Alan Carson, Health, Wealth and Inequality: a Contribution to the Debate about the Relationship between Inequality and Health, March 2008
- 2257 C.A.E. Goodhart, The Regulatory Response to the Financial Crisis, March 2008
- 2258 Stefan Bauernschuster, Oliver Falck and Stephan Heblich, The Impact of Continuous Training on a Firm's Innovations, March 2008
- 2259 Michael Grimm and Stephan Klasen, Geography vs. Institutions at the Village Level, March 2008
- 2260 Fwu-Ranq Chang, Property Insurance, Portfolio Selection and their Interdependence, March 2008
- 2261 J. Atsu Amegashie and Marco Runkel, The Paradoxes of Revenge in Conflicts, March 2008
- 2262 Hans Jarle Kind, Marko Koethenbuerger and Guttorm Schjelderup, Efficiency Enhancing Taxation in Two-sided Markets, March 2008
- 2263 M. Hashem Pesaran, Til Schuermann and L. Vanessa Smith, Forecasting Economic and Financial Variables with Global VARs, March 2008
- 2264 Volker Grossmann, Entrepreneurial Innovation and Sustained Long-run Growth without Weak or Strong Scale Effects, March 2008
- 2265 Robert S. Chirinko and Huntley Schaller, The Irreversibility Premium, March 2008
- 2266 Andrea Galeotti and José Luis Moraga-González, Platform Intermediation in a Market for Differentiated Products, April 2008
- 2267 Torben M. Andersen and Michael Svarer, The Role of Workfare in Striking a Balance between Incentives and Insurance in the Labour Market, April 2008

- 2268 Harald Badinger, Cyclical Fiscal Policy, Output Volatility, and Economic Growth, April 2008
- 2269 Thomas Aronsson and Erkki Koskela, Outsourcing and Optimal Nonlinear Taxation: A Note, April 2008
- 2270 Gary E. Bolton, Claudia Loebbecke and Axel Ockenfels, How Social Reputation Networks Interact with Competition in Anonymous Online Trading: An Experimental Study, April 2008
- 2271 Nikolaus Wolf, Scylla and Charybdis. Explaining Europe's Exit from Gold, January 1928 December 1936, April 2008
- 2272 Michael Funke and Marc Gronwald, The Undisclosed Renminbi Basket: Are the Markets Telling us something about where the Renminbi US Dollar Exchange Rate is Going?, April 2008
- 2273 Thor Olav Thoresen and Annette Alstadsæter, Shifts in Organizational Form under a Dual Income Tax System, April 2008
- 2274 Helge Berger and Volker Nitsch, Too many Cooks? Committees in Monetary Policy, April 2008
- 2275 Yin-Wong Cheung and Eiji Fujii, Deviations from the Law of One Price in Japan, April 2008
- 2276 Michael S. Michael, Sajal Lahiri and Panos Hatzipanayotou, Integrated Reforms of Indirect Taxes in the Presence of Pollution, April 2008
- 2277 Bas Jacobs, Is Prescott Right? Welfare State Policies and the Incentives to Work, Learn and Retire, April 2008
- 2278 Burkhard Heer and Alfred Maußner, Value Function Iteration as a Solution Method for the Ramsey Model, April 2008
- 2279 Jarko Fidrmuc and Christa Hainz, Integrating with their Feet: Cross-Border Lending at the German-Austrian Border, April 2008
- 2280 Kristof Dascher and Alexander Haupt, The Political Economy of Regional Integration Projects at Borders where Rich and Poor Meet: The Role of Cross-Border Shopping and Community Sorting, April 2008
- 2281 Katrin Assenmacher-Wesche and M. Hashem Pesaran, A VECX* Model of the Swiss Economy, April 2008
- 2282 Christophe Rault, Robert Sova and Ana Maria Sova, Modeling International Trade Flows between CEEC and OECD Countries, April 2008

- 2283 Timo Boppart, Josef Falkinger, Volker Grossmann, Ulrich Woitek and Gabriela Wüthrich, Qualifying Religion: The Role of Plural Identities for Educational Production, April 2008
- 2284 Armin Falk, David Huffman and W. Bentley MacLeod, Institutions and Contract Enforcement, April 2008
- 2285 Axel Dreher and Stefan Voigt, Does Membership in International Organizations Increase Governments' Credibility? Testing the Effects of Delegating Powers, April 2008
- 2286 Xavier Freixas and Bruno M. Parigi, Lender of Last Resort and Bank Closure Policy, April 2008
- 2287 Regina Dionisius, Samuel Muehlemann, Harald Pfeifer, Günter Walden, Felix Wenzelmann and Stefan C. Wolter, Cost and Benefit of Apprenticeship Training – A Comparison of Germany and Switzerland, April 2008
- 2288 Francesco Daveri and Cecilia Jona-Lasinio, Off-Shoring and Productivity Growth in the Italian Manufacturing Industries, April 2008
- 2289 Mikael Priks, Do Surveillance Cameras Affect Unruly Behavior? A Close Look at Grandstands, April 2008
- 2290 Marianna Belloc and Daniela Federici, A Two-Country NATREX Model for the Euro/Dollar, April 2008
- 2291 Nicolas Treich, The Value of a Statistical Life under Ambiguity Aversion, April 2008
- 2292 J. Atsu Amegashie, Socially-Tolerable Discrimination, April 2008
- 2293 M. Hashem Pesaran and Andreas Pick, Forecasting Random Walks Under Drift Instability, April 2008
- 2294 Steven Brakman, Gus Garita, Harry Garretsen and Charles van Marrewijk, Unlocking the Value of Cross-Border Mergers and Acquisitions, May 2008
- 2295 Eric O'N. Fisher and Kathryn G. Marshall, The Structure of the American Economy, May 2008
- 2296 Claudia M. Buch and Martin Schlotter, Regional Origins of Employment Volatility: Evidence from German States, May 2008
- 2297 Helmuth Cremer, Philippe De Donder, Dario Maldonado and Pierre Pestieau, Taxing Sin Goods and Subsidizing Health Care, May 2008
- 2298 Reinhilde Veugelers and Frederick van der Ploeg, Reforming European Universities: Scope for an Evidence-Based Process, May 2008

- 2299 Jon H. Fiva and Lars J. Kirkebøen, Does the Housing Market React to New Information on School Quality?, May 2008
- 2300 Tina Klautke and Alfons J. Weichenrieder, Interest Income Tax Evasion, the EU Savings Directive, and Capital Market Effects, May 2008
- 2301 Harald Badinger and Peter Egger, GM Estimation of Higher Order Spatial Autoregressive Processes in Panel Data Error Component Models, May 2008
- 2302 Jan K. Brueckner, Slot-Based Approaches to Airport Congestion Management, May 2008
- 2303 Sören Blomquist, Vidar Christiansen and Luca Micheletto, Public Provision of Private Goods and Nondistortionary Marginal Tax Rates, May 2008
- 2304 Dan Anderberg and Alessandro Balestrino, The Political Economy of Post-Compulsory Education Policy with Endogenous Credit Constraints, May 2008
- 2305 Tomer Blumkin, Yoram Margalioth and Efraim Sadka, The Role of Stigma in the Design of Welfare Programs, May 2008
- 2306 Vesa Kanniainen and Paolo M. Panteghini, Tax Neutrality: Illusion or Reality? The Case of Entrepreneurship, May 2008
- 2307 Thomas Dohmen, Armin Falk, David Huffman and Uwe Sunde, The Intergenerational Transmission of Risk and Trust Attitudes, May 2008
- 2308 Guglielmo Maria Caporale and Mario Cerrato, Using Chebyshev Polynomials to Approximate Partial Differential Equations, May 2008
- 2309 Peter Egger and Doina Maria Radulescu, Labour Taxation and Foreign Direct Investment, May 2008
- 2310 Laurent Linnemer, Dissipative Advertising Signals Quality even without Repeat Purchases, May 2008
- 2311 Jordi Jofre-Monseny and Albert Solé-Ollé, Which Communities should be afraid of Mobility? The Effects of Agglomeration Economies on the Sensitivity of Firm Location to Local Taxes, May 2008
- 2312 Andreas Haufler and Ferdinand Mittermaier, Unionisation Triggers Tax Incentives to Attract Foreign Direct Investment, May 2008
- 2313 Ronel Elul and Piero Gottardi, Bankruptcy: Is it enough to Forgive or must we also Forget?, May 2008
- 2314 Andreas Irmen and Johanna Kuehnel, Productive Government Expenditure and Economic Growth, May 2008